
  annual report 2010

delivering 
value



His HigHness
sHeikH sabaH al-aHmed 
al-Jaber al-sabaH
 
amir of the State of Kuwait 

His HigHness
sHeikH nawaf al-aHmed 
al-Jaber al-sabaH

Crown prinCe of the State  
of Kuwait 

02  Board of directors
04  financial highlights 2010
06  Chairman’s Statement
08  executive management
10  Ceo’s Statement

 business review
14  Corporate Banking
16  international Banking
20  retail Banking
22  treasury & investments
22  ahli Capital
24  Key Support groups
28  Corporate Social responsibility

30 risk management
50 directors’ report
51  auditors’ report to the Shareholders
52 Consolidated financial Statements
57  notes to the Consolidated  

financial Statements
80 Branch network



amidSt tentative But 
enCouraging SignS of 

an improvement in the 
gloBal BanKing SeCtor, 

aBK waS aBle onCe again 
to report profitaBle 

growth in 2010.

1



aHmed Yousuf  
beHbeHani
Chairman

ali Hilal  
al mutairi
deputy Chairman & 
managing direCtor

salaH aHmed  
al serHan
Board memBer

kHalid otHman  
abdul waHHab al otHman
Board memBer

board of directors

2  ABK Annual Report 2010



sulaiman abdallaH 
sulaiman al muraikHi
Board memBer

ali ibraHim HeJJi 
Hussain marafi
Board memBer

talal moHamed reda 
beHbeHani

abdullaH maHmoud 
al osta

Board memBer Board SeCretary

3



financial HigHligHts 2010 

net profits proved resilient 
through effective balance 
sheet and interest rate 
management.

net Profit

Kd53.2m

Shareholders saw an 
increase in earnings 
accompanying the benefits of 
our capital raising exercise.

earnings Per sHare

38 fils

the Bank continues to enjoy 
in-depth capital strength 
surpassing the minimum 
requirements of local and 
international regulators.

caPital adequacY ratio

25.5%
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Kd53.2mnet profit

Kd106.0m

Kd2.949b

38 fils

25.5%

operating inCome

total aSSetS

earningS per Share

Capital adequaCy ratio
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Dear Shareholders,

Once more I welcome the opportunity to 
present to you, on behalf of the Board of 
Directors of Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait, the annual 
report and audited financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2010.

I am gratified to be able to report that the 
world economy has continued a gradual 
recovery from the unprecedented financial 
turmoil of the previous year. Regional 
economies also showed a strengthening 
trend, supported by an improvement in 
market sentiment towards Dubai and the 
UAE, where we have important businesses.

The continued resilience of the oil price, 
gives us in Kuwait some level of confidence 
in the future. But shareholders should be 
aware too of the long-term effects of the 
financial upheavals of two years ago. The 
global banking industry has gone through 
a period of rapid change, and the effects of 
this transformation are still working through 
the system.

In particular, financial markets are still prone 
to volatility and fragility. As this report went 
to press, we saw new uncertainty arising 
from the political changes in the region. It 
is too early to assess what the long-term 
economic effects of these situations will be 
for the Middle East. Although the immediate 
risks in the macro-economy were addressed 
and overcome in 2010, you can be assured 
that we at ABK will continue to be vigilant 
and prudent in our future strategy. At all 
times, we will work with your best long-term 
interests in mind.

We are happy to be able to report a healthy 
rise in net profits, up 36 per cent to KD 53.2 
million. Earnings per share rose 19 per cent 
to 38 fils per share, the return on assets  
was 1.8 per cent and the return on equity 
13.3 per cent.

These figures indicate our sound 
performance in the course of the year, with 
all the core businesses performing robustly. 
Shareholders can take confidence from the 
ongoing in depth strength of the Bank’s 
operations, and its management structures.

Based on these financial results, the Board  
of Directors proposes a cash dividend of  
20 fils per share, a 33 per cent increase over 
last year, subject to the approval of  
the Bank’s general assembly and the 
competent authorities.

It was a busy year for ABK. Among the 
highlights of the year’s activities, which are 
elaborated on later in this report, were the 
KD 101 million capital increase successfully 
concluded in May, and the decision by 
international ratings agencies to maintain 
ABK’s ratings at investment grade, reflecting 
the intrinsic strength and resilience of the 
Bank during these difficult market conditions.

It gives me particular pleasure to highlight 
our continuing achievements in the area of 
corporate social responsibility. At ABK we 
firmly believe that Kuwait’s financial industry 
is an essential part of the fabric of society, 
and that our great financial institutions 
should be integral to the lives of citizens 
and residents of the country. We have been 
enthusiastic participants in the Kuwaitisation 
programme, consistently exceeding the 
targets for employment of nationals set by 
the Government. We are all stakeholders in 
the future prosperity of Kuwait.

We have strengthened and extended 
our policy of support for the wider 
social community, with donations and 
financial assistance to a wide spectrum 
of organisations that provide services and 
opportunities in the fields of education and 
recreation, especially sporting activities. 

In particular, it is our duty to help look after 
those less fortunate than ourselves, and we 
have once more made significant donations 
to the areas of special needs education and 
healthcare. We are proud of our record in 
this field, and pledge that this philosophy 
will continue.

I must also thank those at ABK who 
have made possible this significant year 
of progress. The Board of Directors, the 
executive team, and all employees have once 
more shown that diligence, hard work and 
dedication are the keystones of success. Their 
efforts complement the continuing support 
of our loyal clients and customers, to whom 
we again extend our sincerest gratitude.

I would like to extend thanks and warm best 
wishes to the rulers of our country, whose 
visionary governance and wisdom are our 
constant guides: His Highness the Amir of 
Kuwait, Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber 
Al-Sabah; His Highness the Crown Prince, 
Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah; 
and His Highness the Prime Minister, Sheikh 
Nasser Al-Mohammed Al-Ahmed Al-Sabah. 
I am also grateful to officials of the Central 
Bank of Kuwait, the Ministry of Finance, the 
Ministry of Commerce and Industry, and the 
Kuwait Stock Exchange for their guidance.

You, our loyal shareholders, have proved 
once again that you are prepared to stand 
by the Bank in challenging times. We thank 
you for this continued support, and renew 
our promise to you to dedicate our best 
efforts in the coming year. Together, we can 
rise to meet the challenges of the future.

Ahmed Yousuf Behbehani
Chairman 

36%
we are happy to Be aBle to report a healthy riSe in net profitS, up 36 per Cent to 

Kd 53.2 million. earningS per Share roSe 19 per Cent to 38 filS per Share, the return
on aSSetS waS 1.8 per Cent and the return on equity 13.3 per Cent.
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The banking industry continues to go 
through a time of unparalleled global 
challenge. ABK, like many in the industry, 
has had to respond with determination and 
vigour. While it is too early to call the end 
of this period of volatility and uncertainty, 
there are encouraging signs that the worst 
could be behind us.

The macro-economic climate in the region 
improved gradually in 2010. This was partly 
due to the continued strength of the oil 
price, still the most significant economic 
determinant in the Gulf. But there was also 
a lessening of regional fears on the part of 
international investors as the UAE tackled 
some of the serious problems it was facing 
this time last year.

In our home market, the firm and 
responsible guidance of the Kuwait banking 
authorities was a constant factor throughout 
the year, and as a result we are seeing some 
improvement in the overall investment 
climate. This, along with the resilient oil 
price, will help ensure a steady stream of 
public sector projects in the coming years, 
from which the Kuwaiti banking sector will 
benefit as investment providers.

Nonetheless, 2010 was still a challenging 
year. The profit recovery was extremely 
gratifying, especially against the 
background of a low interest rate 
environment. Once again, we took credit 
provisions, though lower than last year, and 
a top priority continues to be the cautious 
and conservative management of our 
resources, with a constant focus on risk  
and cost control.

Our balance sheet, enhanced by the proceeds 
of the KD 101 million rights issue in May, 
gives further cause for confidence. 

The measures we have taken to preserve 
capital and reinforce our financial resources 
have put us in a strong position, to the 
benefit of customers and investors. The 
international ratings agencies have also 
recognised our efforts in this respect by 
upgrading ABK’s standing in the credit 
markets. We are confident that ABK will 
continue to compete strongly with its 
Kuwaiti peer group in this respect. 

ABK is now well positioned to capitalise 
on the anticipated growth in public sector 
activity. The corporate banking business 
remains the mainstay of our profitability. 
The division took determined action in  
2010 to consolidate and improve the 
quality of its assets, and the effects of  
this effort are bearing fruit.

In retail banking, the challenge was to 
enhance profitability in a low interest rate 
environment, and the division achieved 
this by focusing more closely than ever 
before on customer interface. The policy 
of opening new branches and offering 
customers better service and dedicated 
products was extended. The award-
winning customer website was significantly 
enhanced and improved. We remain 
committed to providing first-class services to 
customers, depositors and business partners 
in Kuwait and elsewhere in the region.

The actions by Dubai to confront its financial 
challenges have been effective in helping 
improve investor sentiment and regional 
financial confidence. ABK’s business in the 
UAE largely focuses on meeting the needs  
of the Kuwaiti business community there, 
and we are confident we can continue to  
do so as conditions improve.

International banking generated more fee 
income as the world economic situation 
improved, and the prospects for Al Ahli 
Capital improved. 

The outlook in these parts of our business  
is now more positive. 2011 is still clouded 
by macro-economic concerns, especially 
emanating from Europe and the USA. But 
overall levels of business and sentiment 
have improved. 

More recently, the political upheavals in the 
region demonstrate once again the capacity 
for external events to affect regional 
economic conditions. It is too early to say 
what the long-term repercussions of these 
events will be. 

The prudent and cautious regulatory policy 
of the Kuwait authorities has helped sustain 
ABK and Kuwait through this period of 
uncertainty. We remain confident that 
by international standards we meet and 
surpass the highest standards of capital 
resources and management. 

Above all, we remain committed to our 
core strategy of providing first-class 
banking services to our clients in Kuwait 
and the region, within a culture of risk and 
prudential management. Employees at all 
levels have contributed to our achievement 
of bringing this core strategy safely through 
the recent turbulence, and we remain 
grateful for their ongoing efforts.

There will be challenges still to come in the 
years ahead, but we have emerged through 
the worst of the financial storm. Let us 
hope now for calmer waters, and a return 
to steady growth.

Colin Plowman
Chief General Manager  
and Chief Executive Officer

KD 101m
our BalanCe Sheet, enhanCed By the proCeedS 
of the Kd 101 million rightS iSSue in may, giveS 

further CauSe for ConfidenCe.
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ProJects tHat will 
assume a HigH Profile 

in 2011 include tHe Plan 
for tHe sixtH ring road 
around kuwait citY, tHe 

extension of kuwait 
universitY, and several 

utilities ProJects.
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Corporate BanKing retainS 
itS Standing aS the largeSt 

profit generator within 
aBK. it ContinueS to play 
a vital role in helping to 

finanCe and implement 
the large Capital projeCtS 

that will tranSform 
the infraStruCture 

landSCape of Kuwait.
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Corporate BanKing
Corporate Banking retains its standing  
as the largest profit generator within ABK. 
It continues to play a vital role in helping 
to finance and implement the large 
capital projects that will transform the 
infrastructure landscape of Kuwait. 

The market remained challenging in 2010, 
with liquidity still not back at pre-crisis 
levels and margins under pressure. For 
Corporate Banking the main priorities 
in the year were to consolidate our 
position through enhanced proactive 
client interactions and a close watch on 
the client’s operating cash flows to avoid 
provisions. In line with ABK’s overall 
philosophy, the watchwords were keen due 
diligence, prudence, and risk avoidance.

With these goals in mind, Corporate 
Banking pursued a policy that was both 
selective and discriminating, with a 
focused approach targeting customers 
executing/supplying products and services 
to government and petrochemical entities. 
Strong operating cash flows with good 
asset backing were the watchwords for 
credit lendings. This approach involved a 
marginal shift away from private sector 
clients towards secured cash flow-
generating clients working with government 
entities and petroleum sector entities. We 
closed distressed positions wherever possible 
and replaced them with quality assets, 
from companies that had weathered the 
economic storm of the previous two years.

Emphasis was on managing the non-
performing loans (NPLs) more robustly. 
The strategy was to identify potential 
NPLs, which exhibited early warning 
signals well in advance, so as to tackle 
them constructively and effectively to 
reduce them on a proactive basis wherever 
possible. Credit guidelines were mandatorily 
followed, thereby assisting in identifying 
problematic accounts, enabling early action 
in order to avoid provisioning. Corporate 
Banking also focused on fee income from 
trade finance, syndicated loans, and 
foreign exchange services, all of which are 
potentially significant generators of profit 
for the Bank. 

This was combined with the policy of 
garnering and opening up new avenues of 
low-cost deposits to fund the asset base, 
producing increased returns for the Bank’s 
bottom line.

With an eye on the future and the  
upcoming challenges, the Corporate 
Banking division’s organisation chart was 
restructured. New initiatives have been 
launched: we introduced a corporate 
advisory unit to handle strategic initiatives 
such as cash management, infrastructure 
finance, receivables, and portfolio 
management. These initiatives form part 
of a proactive approach to customer 
relations, with the Bank acting as a virtual 
management consultant to key clients.

We have also introduced revised due diligence 
measures, including new parameters for 
checking conformity to policy guidelines, and 
tightened many of the asset-quality criteria. 
The customer base has been widened to 
avoid concentration of big customers with 
potentially high-risk exposures.

Projects that will assume a high profile in 
2011 include the plan for the Sixth Ring 
Road around Kuwait City, the extension 
of Kuwait University, and several utilities 
projects. Contractors have been invited 
to bid in joint ventures with international 
and local firms, and ABK will build on its 
expertise with the local market to help 
fund the Kuwaiti element. All the local 
contractors bidding for these projects are 
within the portfolio of ABK. Financing 
these activities will open the door to further 
participants down the financial value chain.

The outlook is demanding, but we have 
every confidence that the initiatives put in 
place will continue to drive business in 2011 
and beyond, creating a healthy asset base 
and generating a higher return on assets.

for Corporate BanKing 
the main prioritieS

in the year were
to ConSolidate 

our poSition through 
enhanCed proaCtive 
Client interaCtionS

and a CloSe watCh
on the Client’S 

operating CaSh flowS
to avoid proviSionS.
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the international BanKing 
diviSion witneSSed a 

tentative reCovery in 
aCtivity levelS in 2010, But 

the BuSineSS will Continue 
to purSue a prudent and 

ConServative Strategy put 
in plaCe in 2008, deSigned 

to maintain itS Strong 
liquidity poSition.

business review
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The International Banking division  
witnessed a tentative recovery in activity 
levels in 2010, but the business will continue 
to pursue a prudent and conservative 
strategy put in place in 2008, designed to 
maintain its strong liquidity position. 

The important presence in the UAE also 
showed some improvement, in line with 
the country’s efforts to get to grips with 
its financial problems. The businesses in 
Dubai and Abu Dhabi are primarily aimed at 
assisting the expatriate Kuwaiti commercial 
community, and we see some signs that 
expansion might resume in the future,  
within stringent parameters.

Until the first quarter of 2010, we 
maintained the strict precautionary 
measures introduced at the height 
of the financial crisis in 2008, which 
reduced exposure to certain financial 
institutions and markets worldwide. Since 
then, however, we have been able to 
restart international business, albeit on 
a conservative basis, and concentrating 
on risk participation transactions on an 
unfunded basis in order to maintain the 
division’s strong liquidity position. 

Significant domestic activity in infrastructure 
has given rise to strong growth in fee 
income and we expect this to continue  
in the current year. 

In Dubai, we have allowed selective 
expansion of the balance sheet, and a 
significant improvement in yields as we 
priced for risk on a far more stringent  
basis. Despite the tougher environment,  
our performance was better than in 2009.

New market segments have been identified 
and recruitment is under way, as we used 
the second half of 2010 to build a solid 
foundation for the current year. We have 
noticed a number of industry niches where 
we believe we can allow further expansion 
of the balance sheet at significantly higher 
margins, and have already concluded 
several transactions, so we started the 
current year with a strong pipeline. We 
intend for both treasury and trade finance 
components of the business to expand 
in 2011 as we take a larger share of our 
customers’ overall banking business.

Abu Dhabi, in the second year of 
operations has witnessed some traction in 
the financial performance of our operations 
there. Some rationalisation of costs was 
undertaken, and far more support is 
now being offered by the Dubai branch 
to improve efficiency. The more resilient 
economy in Abu Dhabi will allow expansion 
of the portfolio in 2011, with more 
resources allocated to corporate banking.

We are currently finalising the launch of 
SMS and e-statement delivery to clients in 
the UAE, which will facilitate faster and 
more secure control over their accounts.

international BanKing
the BuSineSSeS in 

duBai and aBu dhaBi 
are primarily aimed at 

aSSiSting the eXpatriate 
Kuwaiti CommerCial 

Community, and we See 
Some SignS that eXpanSion 

might reSume in the 
future, within Stringent 

parameterS.
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reducing our cost of 
funds, wHile attracting

 increased dePosits, is tHe
 keY to value creation in

 retail banking.
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The past year was the one in which Retail 
Banking truly arrived as a business and 
income generator for ABK. The division built 
on the growth of the Kuwait banking sector 
in 2009, consolidated that position, and 
went on to expand its market share and 
range of promotional offerings.

The challenge at the start of the year was  
how to achieve expansion against 
the background of a low interest rate 
environment. The retail banking business 
responded by increasing customer 
responsiveness, enhancing customer 
interface, and improving customer service. 
This service-oriented policy was backed 
up by sound market research, designed to 
show us exactly what the customer wants. 
Fact-based empirical research is the key to 
knowing customer demands. We took our 
information from a questionnaire circulated 
extensively to nationals, expatriates, clients 
and non clients, which produced detailed 
and specialist data about requirements and 
expectations. Responding to these demands 
has been the watchword for 2010.

Reducing our cost of funds, while attracting 
increased deposits, is the key to value 
creation in retail banking. Deposits grew 
while we maintained our cautious risk 
approach but attracted more genuinely 
high-quality deposits. Non-performing loans 
were maintained at a relatively low level, 
which compares well with our peer group.

Customer loyalty is all-important, and one 
way of ensuring this is via promotion of 
services, offers and new products. We 
mounted no fewer than eight separate 
customer campaigns in 2010, more than 
ever before in one year, and the results are 
showing through. A World Cup promotion 
in association with Visa was especially 
productive. The co-branding with Emirates 
is one of the most successful in regional 
banking, and the offers of air miles and 
travel promotions are a real driver of business 
for ABK. Promotions helped our card 
business grow significantly over the year.

Service is the other significant element in 
retail banking, and again we laid great 
emphasis on this aspect of our business in 
2010. Customers appreciate and expect 
high levels of service and knowledgeable 
staff. We put many employees, whose jobs 
involved high levels of customer interface, 
back to basic service training. There they 
learned especially about the Bank’s offers, 
which had been a weakness, and the result 
has been shown in the improvement, 
especially, of the cards business.

Staff have received specialised training in 
receiving and dealing with complaints, so they 
are much better equipped to handle them.

We opened two new branches in the course 
of the year, and by the end of 2010 had 
27 in Kuwait. Branches have to be tailored 
to fit the business needs of their particular 
customer profile, but we are fortunate 
in that we can adapt quickly and localise 
branch business. 

Retail Banking has one of the highest 
proportions of national employees involved 
in customer interface, with a large majority 
of the total workforce Kuwaiti citizens.

Our website, which is rapidly becoming 
the front line of customer interface, was 
upgraded and relaunched in April, and 
received the award for the Pan Arab Best 
Retail Bank for Online Structure.

We also launched an online fraud 
monitoring system, involving real-time 
scanning of unusual activity. All ABK cards 
are chip-and-pin, which is far more secure 
than swipe-and-sign cards.

With regard to ATMs, we focused on areas 
of proven growth track record, and removed 
underperforming ones, though the total 
number still increased. Cash-deposit facilities 
were introduced at some ATMs and will be 
extended to all in the course of 2011.

As a result of all these customer-focused 
measures, operational efficiency improved 
significantly, and the error count  
reduced dramatically. 

The retail banking business moves into 
2011 confident it can continue to exploit 
new business opportunities in an improving 
financial environment. New lending 
is a priority this year, but only within 
ABK’s overall philosophy of cautious and 
responsible credit expansion. It will continue 
to be driven by the twin principles of value 
creation backed up by customer demand.

retail BanKing

business review

we mounted no fewer than eight Separate CuStomer 
CampaignS in 2010, more than ever Before in one year, 

and the reSultS are Showing through.

20  ABK Annual Report 2010



our weBSite, whiCh iS 
rapidly BeComing the 

front line of CuStomer 
interfaCe, waS upgraded 
and relaunChed in april, 

and reCeived the award 
for the pan araB BeSt 

retail BanK for online 
StruCture.

21



business review

there waS a gradual 
improvement in regional 

ConditionS, aS the finanCial 
proBlemS of duBai were 

largely overCome, and 
Credit SpreadS Showed a 

deClining trend during 
the year. 

22  ABK Annual Report 2010



the proCeedS from the rightS iSSue of may were 
reinveSted prudently, generating additional inCome 

StreamS for the BanK.

In ABK’s treasury and investment activity, 
2010 was a year of consolidation after 
the volatility of the global credit crisis. 
Nonetheless, the business experienced 
improving market conditions, and is 
well placed with strategies to exploit the 
increased client activity we anticipate will 
come through in 2011.

There was a gradual improvement in 
regional conditions, as the financial 
problems of Dubai were largely overcome, 
and credit spreads showed a declining trend 
during the year. 

But there was still only a limited improvement 
in business as clients worked their way 
through the consequences of the economic 
downturn. Caution and risk-aversion remain 
our guiding principles in treasury activity, 
and we worked closely with clients to 
support their similar concerns. 

The proceeds from the rights issue of May 
were reinvested prudently, generating 
additional income streams for the Bank. 

The balance sheet was restructured to 
benefit from interest rate and liquidity 
trends, and we also successfully managed 
the cost of funds and improved the net 
interest margin.

We enhanced derivative activity with clients 
and actively developed some hedging 
mechanisms, but proceeded cautiously,  
in line with Central Bank guidelines. 
There was some increased marketing of 
new products in the second half, but 
we will adhere to the strategy of careful 
expansion in this area. All-important client 
relationships were maintained through 
regular calling programmes and analysis  
of market information.

Treasury also developed a new front and 
back office system, which establishes a 
more capable pricing and risk management 
system that will enhance customer service, 
and we worked closely with the IT, Finance 
and Operations divisions to ensure the 
success of the new systems integration.

Looking forward to 2011 in Treasury,  
we see a gradual improvement in regional 
conditions, sustained by a stronger oil 
price. The evidence suggests the situation in 
Dubai is improving, providing for increased 
opportunities. As projects in Kuwait start 
to gather pace, we expect major clients 
to become more active with their treasury 
business and we are well placed to support 
this growth.

treaSury &
inveStmentS

ahli
Capital
The Financial Services industry continued to 
remain under pressure during 2010, both 
globally and regionally. In Kuwait too, market 
conditions were uncertain with the stock 
market stagnating during the year. However, 
despite these conditions Ahli Capital 
succeeded in growing its profits, with assets 
under management more than doubling.

ABK’s investment funds, Al Ahli Gulf 
Fund and Al Ahli Kuwaiti Fund, which 
are managed by Ahli Capital, have both 
performed exceedingly well among their  
peers during 2010.

The company, in line with its vision  
and mission, is committed to pursuing  
its core business activities with renewed 
drive towards achieving shareholders' 
objectives in a challenging business 
environment. Management remains  
focused on increasing proprietary activities, 
corporate advisory services, portfolio and 
fund management activities.

As the markets recover and opportunities 
arise, Ahli Capital is strategically poised  
to create more value for its shareholders 
and customers. 
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Key Support groupS

business review

Human Resources
Human Resources continued to focus on  
its core strategy to maintain the standards  
of well-trained and highly motivated 
employees who are best equipped to  
serve our customers.

Over 100 training programmes, totalling 
more than 2500 hours were organised 
during the year. All new employees in retail 
banking went through a three-month 
induction programme, synchronised with 
branch openings, under the auspices of  
the ABK Training Academy.

Our aim was to achieve the highest possible 
levels of expertise in customer service, 
product knowledge and sales.

One of the initiatives of 2010 was the 
programme to finance Master of Business 
Administration degrees for ABK employees, 
through institutions based in Kuwait.

Our endeavour was to enable our 
employees to take as many certified courses 
as feasible, to enhance their professional 
qualifications, especially the certificates in 
Credit Analysis and Credit Risk Management 
(CRM) that we continued to award ABK 
staff. We are working on providing a set of 
assessment tools for individual employees 
via the Training Academy, in order to 
improve their capabilities.

Kuwaitisation is a significant policy goal, and 
we are pleased to announce that we have 
now surpassed the level required by the 
Government and are confident of our ability 
to comply with any revisions in the future.

Information Technology
IT's basic philosophy is to improve the 
efficiency of operations throughout the Bank 
by serving users more efficiently, and in this 
respect 2010 was a very successful year.

It was characterised by the delivery of 
new systems with the enhancement and 
strengthening of existing infrastructure. 

In particular we are improving and 
upgrading the technology infrastructure 
on which our core banking system runs, to 
increase processing capacity.

Several new systems were introduced in 
the course of the year: the new Treasury 
system OPICS was successfully launched; 
a card fraud management module was 
introduced to the core card system; the 
International Bank Account Number (IBAN) 
was introduced in all core systems; and the 
disaster recovery capability of the Bank’s 
systems was enhanced and extended.

For our all-important customers, the 
internet banking site was enhanced and 
an Arabic language facility introduced. 
Better card management services through 
the continued upgrade of the card system 
are being applied to provide an improved 
customer experience.

For the coming year the goal of IT is to 
continue to contribute significantly to the 
efficiency of group operations and support 
the Bank’s key strategic initiatives.

Operations
In the year 2010 the Operations Division 
continued its focus on improving staff 
efficiency and providing better service to its 
customers. The newly implemented Treasury 
system has helped in streamlining back 
office processes and improving controls.

The SWIFT standard release 2010 was 
successfully implemented, allowing 
the Bank to benefit from new message 
standards. SWIFT connectivity was improved 
from dial-up to the internet mode. The anti-
money laundering verification process  
was automated. Reengineering of 
processes continued throughout the year 
to improve efficiency. Enhancement of the 
Business Continuity Plan was given priority, 
to improve disaster recovery planning 
capabilities. The division supported ABK’s 
initiative of improving the Kuwaitisation 
ratio, and Kuwaiti graduates were hired and 
adequate training provided to adapt to our 
banking systems and processes.

ABK Operations was active and successful  
in coordinating and implementing initiatives 
between member banks of the Kuwait 
Banking Association, the Central Bank 
of Kuwait and other quasi-government 
entities. Close support was extended to the 
Central Bank and KBA in their projects to 
automate the cheque clearing system, and 
the introduction of IBAN in Kuwait. 

Trade Finance
Trade Finance continued to support 
Corporate and International Banking 
activities throughout 2010.The focus was 
on improving our service capability and 
training our resources.

Due to our wide network of correspondent 
banking arrangements with most reputed 
international banks, we offer seamless 
trade finance services to importers as 
well as exporters. We believe that the 
success of trade finance business will be 
directly influenced by our dedication to 
continuously improving the quality of 
service in every aspect of our operations.

Internal Audit
Internal Audit continues to assist the  
Bank in meeting its objectives by providing 
independent and objective assessments 
of the control arrangements. This is 
supplemented by a focused follow up 
process on corrective actions taken  
on audit issues.

Legal
Legal is responsible for all the legal and 
judicial functions that aim to protect the 
Bank’s rights and interests. It also performs 
a crucial function in offering legal advice to 
the executive management and businesses, 
as well as drafting and preparing all 
contracts and arrangements. The fall-out 
from the financial crisis, with potential or 
actual litigation in some parts of the world, 
led to an increased level of activity in 2010. 
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Risk Management
Risk management has a prominent role in 
ABK’s business culture and its day-to-day 
operations. Under Basel guidelines banks 
are required to establish comprehensive 
frameworks for managing all material 
risks. The frameworks are to address 
identification, measurement and monitoring 
of all material risks across the Bank. In 
addition to credit risk, market risk and 
operational risk under Pillar I, banks have 
been advised by Central Bank of Kuwait to 
assess the risks and capital under Pillar II for 
material risks like credit concentration risk, 
remained risk under credit risk mitigants, 
interest rate risk in the banking book, 
liquidity risk, remained operational risk,  
legal risk, strategic risk and reputation risk.

The Bank has endeavoured to comply 
with these requirements. To this end, the 
frameworks for managing risks were revised 
and implementation was taken up to 
improve enterprise-wide risk management. 

As part of the exercise, the Bank articulated 
a Risk Appetite Statement that sets out the 
boundaries within which risks are to be 
managed in terms of availability and use  
of capital, after setting aside buffers for 
stress conditions. 

Among other initiatives were measures for 
full implementation of the Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process.

An internal review of risk processes 
conducted with the assistance of a reputed 
international accounting firm has almost 
been completed. The objective is to be fully 
compliant with international techniques for 
assessing and managing risks across the 
business spectrum. The Bank’s efforts are 
directed towards being among the best in 
the application of risk analysis techniques. 
For example, the Bank continued to apply 
regular ’stress testing’ analyses across 
asset classes. Over the year, risk assessment 
models were reviewed with the purpose of 
effecting improvements. 

Looking ahead, a key task over the coming 
year will be the introduction of economic 
capital modelling techniques. The Bank is 
confident that the risk policies adopted 
will enable it to continue the strategy of 
effectively managing risk in the scenario 
resulting from the global financial crisis. 

Board Secretariat
The Board Secretariat manages the 
affairs of ABK’s Board of Directors, and 
advises them on various matters including 
providing regular updates about new laws 
and regulations. It coordinates between 
the Board and the Executive Management 
team regarding the supervision of business 
activities, and handles all shareholder-
related activities such as providing 
information and share statements, and 
distributing dividends and bonus shares 
(through the Kuwait Clearing Company). 
It schedules board meetings and annual 
general meetings, prepares the agendas, 
and sends meeting minutes to each of the 
regulatory authorities.

The Unit advises the Board on all matters 
related to the corporate business and 
updates it about the new laws and 
regulations issued by the regulatory 
authorities. Scheduling Board meetings 
and annual general meetings, preparing 
the agenda, and sending these minutes 
to the regulatory authorities such as the 
Central Bank of Kuwait and the Ministry 
of Commerce and Industry are part of its 
responsibilities. The Bank’s corporate social 
responsibility activities are also handled by 
the Board Secretariat.

Anti-Money Laundering
Money laundering remains a major concern 
for financial and banking regulators across 
the world. In 2010, ABK was pleased to 
comply with new regulations from the 
Central Bank of Kuwait, with the emphasis 
firmly on compliance and ’know your 
customer’ requirements. 

The Bank strengthened its systems to  
ensure efficient and comprehensive 
monitoring and scrutiny of transactions  
and customers, in accordance with local 
and international guidelines.

The Bank helped organise the Anti-Money 
Laundering Conference under the auspices 
of the Ministry for Commerce and Industry 
and the Central Bank of Kuwait. The 
conference was a valuable exercise in raising 
standards of awareness among the Kuwaiti 
financial community of the risks posed 
by new techniques of money laundering 
and the steps necessary to combat them, 
including the opportunity to become more 
fully acquainted with international best 
practices in the field. 

The lessons learned will be incorporated 
into the Bank’s own procedures. Prevention 
of financial crime is regarded as one of 
our most important functions and we will 
continue to play our part in minimising the 
threat from such activities to the regional 
and global financial systems.

Project Management
The year witnessed the implementation 
of a number of key change initiatives that 
further enhanced and extended ABK’s 
operations. Key projects that were managed 
to conclusion included, amongst others, the 
implementation of a new treasury system, 
a card fraud management system, and the 
implementation of IBAN.

Projects to implement an asset-and-liability 
management system to better manage 
capital allocation, and the continuing 
process of automating the ICAAP reporting 
capability, are under way.

In the coming year, the focus will change  
to managing core strategic change initiatives 
across the Bank, and as such the delivery 
capability and capacity of the Bank will 
be expanded. We are working with the 
business and operational divisions to deliver 
solutions that will increase operational 
efficiency and market effectiveness.
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at abk, we Have alwaYs 
believed PassionatelY 

tHat tHe bank must PlaY 
a wider role in tHe lives 

of citiZens and residents 
of kuwait.
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Corporate SoCial reSponSiBility

business review

The global banking industry has a special 
responsibility in the years to come: after 
the financial crisis, which underlined just 
how interconnected and interdependent 
the financial world is with the lives of 
everybody in the world, banks must step  
up and reaffirm their commitment to  
the rest of society.

At ABK, we have always believed 
passionately that the Bank must play 
a wider role in the lives of citizens and 
residents of Kuwait. We are part of the 
engine that drives the economy of the 
country, which affects all our lives and our 
well-being. The Bank's contribution to the 
wider social community continues to be a 
top priority, and we will maintain, indeed 
reinforce, our commitment to health and 
educational programmes, especially with 
regard to those people with special needs, 
as well as our support for cultural and 
sporting activities in the country.

We provide substantial financial support 
in the form of donations to organisations 
responsible for these essential elements  
of modern life.

We also make charitable donations to 
societies, care houses and other institutions 
catering for the disadvantaged. These 
enhance the welfare of less fortunate 
citizens and improve the quality of  
services they receive.

We believe in a policy that encourages sport 
and athletics, and realise the importance of 
the role played by civil organisations in sport.

In the sporting field, in 2010 the Bank made 
donations to various sporting associations 
in Kuwait to help improve the quality of life 
of all residents in the country.

In education, the crucial area for the future 
development of the country, ABK made 
donations to various educational institutions.

In health, another vital aspect of the 
country’s social development, the Bank 
assisted via financial contributions the 
Kuwait Association for the Care of Children 
in Hospital, an invaluable organisation that 
helps ensure all our youngsters get the best 
possible treatment when they have the 
misfortune to suffer illness or injury.

In the social field ABK made donations to 
Small Kuwaiti Projects and the National 
Programme of Kuwaiti Projects, as well as 
the Environment Public Authority. Charitable 
donations were made to the Mabarat 
Khair Al Kuwait organisation. Cultural 
contributions were also made to the 
Diplomatic Centre for Strategic Studies.

Shareholders, citizens and residents can 
rest assured that the Bank’s high standards 
of corporate social responsibility will be 
continued and enhanced in the current year.

in the Sporting field, 
in 2010 the BanK made 
donationS to variouS   

Sporting aSSoCiationS in 
Kuwait to help improve 

the quality of life of all 
reSidentS in the Country.
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CruCial area for the 

future development of 
the Country, aBK made 
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Risk 
Management

The group structure
The group structure consists of Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait and subsidiary Ahli Capital Investment Company, which are engaged in the commercial 
banking activities of corporate banking, retail banking, international banking, treasury services, investment activities and advisory services. 
The parent bank and the subsidiary are headquartered in Kuwait.

Pillar III disclosures
Under the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) Basel II guidelines of 31 December 2005, as amended, banks are to follow a standardised approach 
for the Pillar I minimum capital requirement. The Central Bank of Kuwait also issued guidelines in June 2009 for the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process under the Pillar II supervisory review process. 

The group has adopted these guidelines in its capital adequacy assessment and management for all material risks covered under Pillar I  
and Pillar II.

The major highlights of these regulations are:

•	Banks	must	maintain	capital	adequacy	ratio	at	a	minimum	of	12%.

•	Banks	have	to	adopt	the	Standardised	Approach	for	implementing	Basel	II,	using	national	discretion	for	

 - adopting Option II for bank exposures, 

 - adopting the top three rating agencies as External Credit Assessment Institutions, and

	 -	 defining	SME	as	the	maximum	aggregate	retail	exposure	limit	to	one	SME	or	to	any	group	of	SMEs	not	exceeding	KD	250,000.	

•	The	Bank’s	external	auditors	must	audit	capital	adequacy	returns.

•		The	Bank	must	conduct	Internal	Capital	assessment	for	all	material	risks	(Pillar	II	risks)	under	the	Internal	Capital	Adequacy	Assessment	
Process	(ICAAP).	These	risks	include	credit	concentration	risk,	CRM	risks,	remained	operation	risk,	legal	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	liquidity	risk,	
strategic risk, reputation risk, etc.

•		The	Bank	must	conduct	stress	testing	of	 its	one-year	forward	business	projections	under	different	scenarios	and	assess	the	 impact	on	
capital adequacy and profitability.

Under the Framework of Capital Adequacy the Bank must provide timely, accurate, relevant and adequate disclosures of qualitative and 
quantitative information that enables users to assess its activities and risk profile. The following public disclosures are made in line with the 
requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait.

Subsidiaries and significant investments
The	Bank	has	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	company,	Ahli	Capital	Investment	Company	K.S.C.	(Closed).	The	subsidiary	is	engaged	in	investment	
management and advisory activities and comes under the supervision of the Central Bank of Kuwait. 

Risk	exposures	and	capital	management	in	the	Bank	are	performed	at	a	consolidated	level	including	the	subsidiary’s	activities.	However,	the	
subsidiary also performs its own separate capital adequacy exercise to determine its capital levels individually on a stand alone basis.
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Capital structure
The	capital	structure	of	the	Bank	consists	of	Tier	I	capital	(paid-up	equity	capital	and	reserves)	and	Tier	II	capital,	which	includes	45%	of	
the	fair	valuation	reserves	and	a	general	provision	of	1.25%	of	total	credit	risk	weighted	assets.	There	are	no	innovative	or	complex	capital	
instruments in the capital structure of the Bank. 

Capital structure as at 31 December 2010 (KD 000s)

1. Paid-up share capital/common stock 144,118
2. Reserves 281,049

Less:
3.	Treasury	Shares (8,410)

Tier I 416,757 

45%	of	asset	revaluation	reserves 2,469 
45%	of	fair	valuation	reserves 7,906 
General	provisions	(subject	to	maximum	of	1.25%	of	total	credit	risk	weighted	assets) 21,362 

Tier II 31,737 

Tier III -
Other deductions from capital -

Total eligible capital after deductions  448,494 

Capital adequacy
The	Bank’s	capital	management	philosophy	is	aimed	at	maintaining	an	optimum	level	of	capital	to	enable	it	to	pursue	strategies	that	build	
long-term shareholder value, whilst always meeting minimum Pillar I capital requirements as well as Pillar II capital requirements. The 
Pillar	II	capital	requirements	are	the	Bank’s	internal	estimate	of	the	capital	required	to	cover	all	its	material	risks,	including	those	which	are	
not captured under Pillar I capital calculations like credit concentration risk, interest rate risk in the banking book, liquidity risk, legal risk, 
remained operation risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, etc. 

The objective is to maximise its return on capital and, at the same time, provide for unexpected losses. The Bank manages its capital in 
an integrated manner with the aim of maintaining strong capital ratios and high ratings. This calls for a balanced approach: maintaining 
capital levels that are sufficient to provide a high return to shareholders; meeting the requirements of regulators, rating agencies and other 
stakeholders (including deposit holders), and supporting future business growth. The cost of capital and its composition in terms of its 
quality and stability are also considered. 

The Bank has established an ICAAP framework, which entails:

•	Incorporation	of	the	business	plan	with	a	three	year	horizon	for	capital	assessment;

•	Assessment	and	measurement	of	the	material	risks	in	the	Bank’s	exposures	as	per	Pillar	I	and	II	guidelines;

•	Monitoring	of	risks	against	the	risk	limits	established	through	the	risk	strategies;

•	Stress	testing	of	the	Bank’s	exposures	on	a	Bank-wide	basis	to	assess	the	capital	adequacy	in	case	of	adverse	scenarios;	and

•	Regular	reporting	of	the	ICAAP	results	to	the	senior	management	and	Board	to	take	appropriate	remedial	actions.	
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Risk 
Management (continued)

Capital adequacy (continued)

Figure 8 – ICAAP framework of the Bank

 
The Bank reviews the adequacy of its regulatory capital to support its current and future activities on a periodic basis. 

Capital adequacy scoring allocation matrix
The Bank also conducts a self assessment exercise to assess the inherent risk, as well as assessing the strength of internal supervision, risk 
management system, infrastructure, other support systems and governance. 

The Bank manages the adequacy of its capital under the following structures:

Capital adequacy planning framework
Strategic	business	objectives	and	future	capital	needs	are	assessed	within	this	framework.	The	Bank	employs	capital	rationing	techniques	to	
allocate	capital	for	each	of	the	Bank’s	business	units	in	order	to	optimise	returns.	The	annual	budget	plan	provides	an	overall	direction	to	
individual business units to estimate overall growth in assets and its impact on the required regulatory capital. The Bank ensures that capital 
ratios	are	maintained	above	the	regulatory	minimum.	Sources	of	future	capital	are	identified	and	plans	put	in	place	to	raise	and	retain	capital,	
under the terms of the framework. 

The Bank plans its capital projections for a three-year period basis to assess the capital availability and adequacy, taking into account 
the strategic business plans and other initiatives. This three-year assessment is performed at the end of every year to enable the Bank to 
determine	 its	 capital	 needs.	 Strategic	 business	 environment	 and	 other	 factors	 are	 considered	 in	 the	 three-year	 forward-looking	 capital	
assessment process. 

Annual dividend payout is prudently determined and proposed by the Board of Directors, endeavouring to meet shareholder expectations 
and regulatory capital requirements. 

Assumptions

Business Plan

Risk	Strategy

Identification of 
material risks specific

to business model

Additional capital
requirement for  

stress tests

Management	actions

Internal capital
models to  

quantify risk

Gross stress tests

Net stress tests

Projection of Pillar I
and Pillar II CAR for 3

year	horizon

Development of
specific stress
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Sensitivity analysis and stress testing
The	Bank	has	set	up	a	structural	framework	for	stress	testing	whereby	Risk	Management,	in	coordination	with	the	business	lines,	identifies	
all	the	material	risk	factors	affecting	the	Bank’s	operations.	Based	on	these	risk	factors,	plausible	stress	scenarios	are	designed	and	exposures	
are	stressed	to	assess	the	impact	on	the	Bank’s	capital	adequacy	and	profitability.

The Bank carries out a sensitivity analysis on the volatility of collateral, fair valuation reserves, possible rating downgrades of borrowers/
guarantors	and	the	achievability	of	profit	projections.	The	Bank’s	capital	solvency	is	then	assessed	and	reported	to	the	Board	of	Directors.	

The Bank runs a stress-testing programme for one-year business projections as part of its risk management process for capital management. 
This process is performed every half year to assess capital adequacy and is reported to the Board of Directors.

 
The	Bank’s	stress-testing	programme	covers	the	following	risk	categories.

•	Credit	risk	–	Default	on	the	loans	provided	to	counterparties	including	financial	institutions,	corporate	and	retail	borrowers.

•		Concentration	risk	–	Concentration	in	the	form	of	exposures	towards	individuals,	or	particular	industry/sector,	or	concentration	in	countries	
or regions.

•	Interest	rate	risk	–	Changes	in	interest/yield	curve.

•	Market	risk	–	Adverse	changes	in	prices	of	assets	and	the	effect	of	these	changes	on	the	portfolio	of	the	Bank	and	markets.

•	Liquidity	risk	–	Reduction	in	credit	lines,	non-availability	of	financing	facilities,	run	on	the	Bank	etc.

•	Operational	risk	–	Risk	categories	as	defined	by	Basel	II.

•	CRM	risk	–	Collateral	values	considered	as	credit	risk	mitigants	(CRM)	are	stressed	for	the	decline	of	relevant	markets	like	shares	and	real	estate.

•	Legal	risk:	Stressed	as	part	of	the	operation	risk	scenario	analysis.

•	Strategic	risk	and	reputation	risk:	Capital	for	strategic	risk	and	reputation	risk.

 
For the purpose of stress testing the Bank considers its portfolios, specifically including: 

•	All	balance	sheet	positions	in	the	banking	book	and	the	trading	book;

•	Off-balance	sheet	positions	(commitments,	contingencies,	derivative	contracts,	etc.);

•	Risk	mitigants	such	as	collateral	values,	values	of	hedging	instruments,	etc;	and

•	Exposures	across	business	units,	geographies,	product	segments,	etc.	

The	Bank	has	designed	stress	scenarios	for	stress-testing	purposes.	Based	on	the	Bank’s	risk	policies	three	stress	scenarios	are	considered	
for	stress	testing	purposes.	These	scenarios	are	‘Mild’,	‘Medium’	and	‘Severe’	scenarios.	For	the	purpose	of	stress	testing,	the	different	risk	
categories	are	individually	considered,	including	the	Bank’s	subsidiary,	and	grossed	to	assess	the	impact	on	a	consolidated	basis.	Different	
levels of stress are applied for various risk categories under the three scenarios to determine the stress losses.

The Bank has also instituted sufficient governance for its capital adequacy and assessment process, with independent review by Internal Audit 
and Financial Control for compliance with policy, accuracy of data and reasonableness of output.

33



Risk 
Management (continued)

Capital adequacy (continued)

Composition analysis
The composition of capital in terms of Tiers I, II and III is analysed to ensure capital stability and to reduce volatility in the capital structure. 

Capital adequacy as at 31 December 2010

Required 
capital 

(KD 000s)

1. Claims on sovereigns 347 
2.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 390
3. Claims on banks 19,998
4. Claims on corporates 113,191
5. Regulatory retail exposures 24,731
6. Past due exposures 1,728
7. Other exposures 44,687

Total 205,072

Less:	General	provision	in	excess	of	1.25%	risk	weighted	assets (9,711)

Net credit risk weighted exposure 195,361
Market	risk	exposure 396
Operational risk exposure 15,304

Grand Total 211,061

Capital Adequacy Ratios:
Tier I 23.70%
Total 25.50%

Risk management structure and process 
Under Basel II guidelines banks are required to establish comprehensive frameworks for managing all material risks. The frameworks are to 
address the identification, measurement and monitoring process of all material risks across the Bank. In addition to credit risk, market risk 
and operational risk under Pillar I, banks have been advised by Central Bank of Kuwait to assess the risks and capital under Pillar II for all 
material	risk	faced	by	the	Bank,	such	as	credit	concentration	risk,	CRM	risk,	interest	rate	risk	in	the	banking	book,	liquidity	risk,	remained	
operation risk, legal risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, etc. 

The Bank has revised and enhanced the risk frameworks for managing various risks as identified under the Central Bank of Kuwait Basel II 
and	 ICAAP	guidelines.	Risk	management	 is	governed	by	the	Risk	Management	Frameworks	 that	 include	Risk	Manual,	Risk	Appetite	and	
Assessment,	Risk	Measurement	and	Stress	Testing	models	and	methodology,	Capital	Adequacy	Assessment	Matrices,	and	Risk	Strategy,	which	
are approved by the Board. Risk is embedded in the decision-making process for all types of risks to enable the Bank to manage the risks 
within acceptable levels.
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The Bank has also articulated a risk appetite statement, which sets out the boundaries within which the risks have to be managed in terms 
of availability and use of capital after setting aside a buffer for stress conditions. Brief descriptions of the risk appetite statement, along with 
the risks identified and the methodology used to manage those risks, are set out below:

Risk appetite statement
The Bank has introduced a risk appetite framework and risk culture for managing its exposures diligently, in order to ensure risks are taken 
and managed within the risk tolerance levels and capital budgeting. In this respect a risk appetite statement has been defined, providing 
a	basis	for	setting	the	Bank’s	risk-taking	capacity,	maintaining	a	risk	buffer,	risk	limits	within	business	strategy,	risk	parameters	for	overall	
business objectives, appetite indicators for monitoring and reporting.

At the Bank-wide level the risk appetite statement is based on the capital allocation, the quality of assets, the earnings volatility, the liquidity 
risk, and regulatory compliance. These parameters are then cascaded down to business units by setting a series of risk limits applicable for 
each business line. 

Risk limits/thresholds
The Bank sets risk limits as part of its business and strategic plan. The risk limits are monitored within the risk appetite framework by 
business lines based on the business plans. The risk appetite statements have been embedded within each risk management framework for 
managing credit, market, operational, strategic and reputation risk. These appetite statements have been translated into specific risk limits 
and thresholds for managing risk levels within the appetite levels.

Monitoring, control and reporting of risk appetite and limits
ABK monitors the risk appetite, risk limits and thresholds periodically through its monitoring, control and reporting mechanism. This is 
monitored with the aim of assessing the level of risk exposures of the Bank, and to take appropriate corrective measures needed to maintain 
the appetite levels within acceptable ranges.

Risk control and governance
The	primary	goal	of	risk	management	is	to	ensure	that	the	Bank’s	asset	and	liability	profile,	its	trading	positions	and	its	credit	and	operational	
activities	do	not	expose	it	to	losses	that	could	threaten	its	viability.	Risk	Management	assists	in	ensuring	that	risk	exposures	do	not	become	
excessive,	 relative	 to	 the	Bank’s	capital	and	financial	positions.	Policies	 for	hedging	and	mitigating	risk	and	strategies	and	processes	 for	
monitoring	the	continuing	effectiveness	of	hedges,	are	covered	under	Significant	Accounting	Policies	in	the	financial	statements.

Risk	Management	includes	the	following	four	elements:	Risk	Identification,	Risk	Measurement,	Risk	Monitoring	and	Risk	Control.
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Risk 
Management (continued)

Risk control and governance (continued)
The	organisational	structure	of	the	Bank’s	Risk	Management	Division	is	set	out	below:

General	Management	Committee,	MD’s	Risk	Review	Committee	and	HR	Committee	are	the	other	governance	bodies	that	facilitate	decision	
making and review process by senior management.

The	Bank’s	Risk	Management	Division	reports	directly	to	the	Bank’s	Deputy	Chairman	and	Managing	Director.	

The lines of business along with the support divisions, risk management division and the internal audit division comprise the three components 
that	ensure	effective	compliance	with	the	control	processes	laid	down	for	risk	management	in	the	Bank.	The	Risk	Management	Division,	with	
the active support of top management, continuously seeks to instil a risk-conscious culture throughout the Bank.

Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

• Board Credit Committee
• Board Audit Committee

Risk Committees

Board Remuneration and 
Compensation Committee

CEO & Chief General Manager / 
Deputy Chief General Manager

ICAAP Unit

Financial Risk
(Market Risk)
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Credit Risk Unit
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Basel II
Credit Control 
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Portfolio & 

Provision Unit
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•		Funds	

Supervisory	
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•		Management	
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•		Corporate	Credit	
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Committees
•		Risk	Committee
•		IT	Steering	
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•		Pricing	and	
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•		Purchase	
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•		Strategic	
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Credit risk management
Credit risk arises from the potential financial loss resulting from customers failing to honour the terms of their contracts. It also includes the 
risk of loss in portfolio value as a result of migration from lower risk to higher risk categories. The Bank evaluates both settlement and pre-
settlement credit risk at the customer level across all products through a rating system.

Credit	risk	is	the	most	significant	risk	the	Bank	is	exposed	to,	and	proactive	management	ensures	the	Bank’s	long-term	success.	

The Bank has a comprehensive due diligence system for approving credit facilities and well-defined policies for controlling credit risk at the 
counter-party, group, economic sector and country levels.

The	Bank	also	has	a	robust	system	of	borrowers’	risk	ratings	that	assesses	the	risk	of	corporate	borrowers	and	monitors	ratings	changes	
annually.	The	credit	portfolio	is	classified	from	1	to	10	–	1	being	excellent	and	10	being	bad.	The	borrower	risk-rating	model	takes	into	
consideration key factors such as business trends, management, financials, collaterals, etc., duly weighted to arrive at the rating. 

All corporate and sovereign credit requires independent credit risk review. Wherever group exposure exceeds a stipulated limit, approval of 
the Board Credit Committee is required. Any credit relating to the Board of Directors is approved strictly in accordance with Central Bank of 
Kuwait requirements. 

With	regard	to	credit	culture,	Risk	Management	ensures	that	appropriate	policies,	guidelines,	processes	and	procedures	exist	to	cover	all	
business areas of credit risk. It also ensures the consistent application of credit standards, and the periodic review and updating of credit 
policies, guidelines and procedures.

The policy sets limit criteria for individual exposure, group exposure, economic sector limits and country limits. Business with any counter-
party does not commence until a credit line has been approved. A strict credit approval process exists, with authority levels delegated to 
ensure the efficient conduct of business. 

Transaction	risk	is	concerned	with	the	credit	risk	of	a	single	deal/counter-party.	Risk	Management	ensures	that	credits	are	granted	according	
to the approved standards and that all risks are highlighted in the credit risk review, including policy exceptions. 

Credit	facility	risk	covers	analysing	and	reporting	on	the	nature	of	on-	and	off-balance	sheet	counter-party	exposure	(size,	tenor,	complexity	
and liquidity), including secured and unsecured credit facilities.

Portfolio risk arises because of high positive correlation between individual credit facilities. This may include:

•	concentration	of	exposure	in	geographical	areas,	sectors,	groups,	counter-parties	or	rating	categories;	

•	trend	analysis	in	volume,	sectors	and	concentration;	

•	trends	in	portfolio	quality	(borrowers’	risk	migration,	non-performing	loans).

The	Bank	monitors	and	reports	to	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait,	on	a	quarterly	basis,	statements	of	all	credit	concentrations	of	5%	or	more,	
in	accordance	with	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	circular	dated	BSS/101/1995.	The	Bank	monitors	and	complies	with	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	
instructions	that	any	one	customer’s	liability	(cash	limits	or	exposures,	whichever	is	higher,	and	non-cash	liabilities)	and	its	related	parties	to	
the	Bank	should	not	exceed	15%	of	the	Bank’s	capital	as	defined	in	the	CBK	guidelines	under	BSS/101/1995.	The	Bank	complies	with	the	
guidelines of the Central Bank of Kuwait with regard to credit disbursal/regulation to various sectors of the economy. 
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Credit risk management (continued)
In addition to the above the Bank has prudent internal portfolio exposure limits to manage concentration in various sectors. Portfolio 
exposure analysis is done at regular intervals to manage and contain the risk in various sectors. Whenever required, the Bank revises or limits 
its exposures to manage or contain risks. To mitigate risks arising from the financial crisis that gripped the world economy at large, the Bank 
proactively reviewed portfolio exposures to various transaction types, counter-parties, sectors, banks and countries, and revised exposure 
limits for managing risk.

For	retail	credit	the	Bank	has	policies,	controls	and	processes.	Retail	loans	are	originated	through	the	Bank’s	branch	network.	Retail	loans	that	
comply with policy criteria are processed after approval by the appropriate authorities. Exceptions are reviewed and approved independently 
by	Risk	Management	and	reported	to	the	appropriate	credit	committee.	A	separate	Retail	Lending	Unit	under	Retail	Banking	reviews	and	
ensures all necessary procedures and documentation are completed. The Bank also reviews the retail portfolio for deterioration, and has 
mechanisms for loan and instalment collections when past due.

Under Pillar II risks the concentration risk is also assessed to provide capital and manage the concentration risk prudently. This also includes 
CRM	risk	assessed	based	on	the	quality	of	collateral	and	liquidity,	volatility,	etc.

Financial risk

Market risk
Market	risk	is	the	risk	of	adverse	impact	on	the	value	of	assets,	liabilities	or	revenues	because	of	changes	in	market	conditions	or	movement	
in	market	rates	or	prices.	Market-sensitive	assets	and	liabilities	are	generated	through	loans,	investments	and	deposits	associated	with	the	
traditional banking business, as well as customer and proprietary trading operations. For measuring the market risk in the trading book, all 
positions are marked to market daily, and limits are approved and independently monitored. All exposures are independently monitored by 
Risk	Management	and	appropriate	limits	are	approved	by	the	Asset	Liability	Management	Committee	(ALCO).

Market	risk	capital	is	also	assessed	under	Pillar	II	for	any	concentration	in	trading	positions,	illiquidity	in	the	markets,	positions	marked	to	
model etc. 

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign	exchange	risk	represents	the	Bank’s	exposures	to	fluctuations	in	the	values	of	current	holdings	and	future	cash	flows	denominated	
in	other	currencies.	The	types	of	instruments	exposed	to	this	risk	include:	foreign	currency-denominated	loans,	future	cash	flows	in	foreign	
currencies	arising	from	foreign	exchange	transactions,	the	Bank’s	proprietary	positions	and	customers’	foreign	exchange	transactions.

Instruments used to mitigate this risk are foreign exchange spot, forwards, options, etc. These instruments help to insulate the Bank against 
losses that may arise due to significant movements in foreign exchange rates. All foreign exchange exposures are centrally managed by 
the	Bank’s	Treasury	and	are	daily	marked	to	market.	Limits	have	been	assigned	with	respect	to	overnight	open	exposures,	stop	loss	and	
authorised currencies to monitor and control foreign exchange exposures. The Bank also uses VaR and stress scenarios to quantify the foreign 
exchange	risk.	The	VaR	limits	are	monitored	independently	by	Risk	Management	on	a	daily	basis.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk faced by the Bank arises on account of a mismatch in re-pricing of loans and deposits. The majority of loans are re-priced in 
line	with	changes	in	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait’s	Discount	Rate.	However,	the	pricing	of	deposits	is	not	linked	to	the	CBK	Discount	Rate	and	
hence the interest rates on deposits do not get re-priced along with the repricing of loans. The mismatch that arises as a result gives rise to 
interest rate risk (basis risk). The other elements in the consolidated statement of financial position carrying interest rate risk are Treasury Bills 
and	Bonds,	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	Bonds,	and	Debt	securities	in	the	Bank’s	investment	portfolio.	

The	Bank’s	overall	goal	is	to	manage	interest	rate	sensitivity	so	that	movements	in	interest	rates	do	not	adversely	affect	the	Bank’s	net	interest	
income. Interest rate risk is measured as the potential volatility in net interest income caused by changes in market interest rates. 
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Exposures are quantified using interest rate re-pricing gaps. Earnings at risk limits are monitored and simulations used to estimate the impact 
of	various	interest	rate	scenarios	on	the	Bank’s	net	interest	income.	These	simulations	incorporate	assumptions	of	asset	and	liability	re-pricing	
and	maturity	characteristics.	Exposures	against	 limits	and	simulation	analysis	are	regularly	monitored	by	the	Asset	Liability	Management	
Committee (ALCO). 

Interest rate risk in the trading book is marked to market daily. The activity is monitored through notional exposure limits, stop loss limits 
and maximum maturity limits. 

Under Pillar II the Bank carries out an internal assessment of capital for interest rate risk in the banking book and allocates specific capital 
for this risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity is the ongoing ability to accommodate liability maturities and deposit withdrawals, fund asset growth and business operations, and 
meet contractual obligations through unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market rates.

The	Bank’s	projected	liquidity	needs	are	analysed	and	optimum	alternatives	to	manage	the	liquidity	risk	are	recommended.	Risk	Management	
also	independently	reviews	and	evaluates	the	Bank’s	ability	to	access	liquidity	from	different	sources.	Risk	Management	identifies	liquidity	
at risk, which is monitored and reported daily. Liquidity management policies and a contingency liquidity plan have been established. The 
concentration in deposits is monitored on a regular basis and reviewed by ALCO. The Bank has put in place a liquidity risk strategy, which 
clearly determines a risk appetite and also lists the broad goals to be achieved to manage liquidity risk.

Liquidity	risk	parameters	managed	under	the	balance	sheet	structure	–	liquid	assets	to	total	assets,	loans	to	deposits;	cumulative	negative	
maturity mismatch; funding source diversification; stress testing under severe scenario, and capital consumption. These appetite parameters 
are used for driving liquidity risk and the exposure the Bank would be willing to take, and to manage risk levels within the appetite levels.

Under Pillar II the liquidity risk is assessed for Bank-specific and general market scenarios, and capital provided to manage the risk.

Asset liability management risk
Risk	Management	plays	a	critical	role	in	assessing	the	risk	embedded	in	the	Bank’s	assets	and	liabilities.	It	recommends	measures	to	correct	
any imbalances in the financial position structure. 

Risk	Management’s	role	includes	assessing	overall	profitability	levels;	sources,	volatility	and	concentration	of	revenues;	effectiveness	in	pricing	
to cover costs and risk; performance relative to the peer group; analysis of projected profitability including the sustainability of income 
sources; the impact of strategic initiatives and the impact of anticipated changes in the operating environment. 

The variability of net interest income in different scenarios is monitored, aiming to maximise net interest income within an acceptable risk 
level.	Risk	Management	ensures	that	a	proper	fund	transfer	pricing	model	is	in	place,	centralising	the	interest	rate	risk	in	the	banking	book	
and ensuring divisional performance evaluation. 

Operational risk 
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external 
events.	Managing	this	risk	relies	on	identifying	risks	that	exist	within	the	organisation;	educating	Bank	employees	on	the	operational	risks	
they encounter in the course of their duties; and ensuring that the control framework works effectively.

The Bank identifies and assesses the operational risk in products, activities, processes and systems. It also ensures that, before any new 
products or services, activities, processes or systems are introduced, the associated operational risks are properly assessed and mitigated.

Risk identification is vital to the development of viable operational risk monitoring and control systems. Risk identification considers internal 
factors	such	as	the	Bank’s	structure,	the	nature	of	its	activities,	the	quality	of	its	human	resources,	organisational	changes	and	employee	turnover.	
It also examines external factors such as changes in the industry, major political and economic changes and technological advances.
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Operational risk (continued)

Operational Risk Models
The	 Bank	 has	 developed	 Operational	 Risk	 Models	 (ORMs)	 that	 cover	 key	 risks	 identified	 in	 the	 Bank’s	 important	 business	 and	 support	
areas.	The	risks	highlighted	in	the	ORMs	are	discussed	and	mitigated	in	liaison	with	the	respective	business	units,	and	are	reviewed	by	the	 
Risk Committee. 

The Bank has an operational risk Value at Risk (VaR) model to quantify its exposure. This is done by systematically tracking and recording the 
frequency and severity of individual error and loss events and other relevant information about them and measuring the losses through the 
operational risk VaR model.

Under Pillar II remained operational risk is assessed using the VaR model to internally assess all material operational risks.

Legal risks are assessed as part of the operational risk VaR model, and capital is assessed based on the impact and likelihood of material  
legal risk issues.

The	Bank’s	internal	error/loss	database	captures	material	activities	and	exposures	from	all	appropriate	sub-systems	and	geographic	locations.	
It also tracks individual internal error/loss data (actual loss, potential loss, near misses and attempted frauds), mapping these into the relevant 
business lines. The Bank also collects information about the date of events and recoveries, as well as descriptive information about the causes 
and	drivers	of	the	loss	events.	The	loss	data	events	collected	are	analysed	and	any	deficiencies	in	the	Bank’s	processes	are	remedied.

Control and mitigation of operational risk
The Bank has established policies, processes and procedures to control and mitigate material operational risks. It periodically reviews risk 
limitation and control strategies and adjusts the operational risk profile accordingly, using appropriate strategies in light of its overall risk 
appetite and profile:

•		The	Bank	ensures	 that	 there	 is	appropriate	segregation	of	duties	and	that	personnel	are	not	assigned	responsibilities	 that	may	create	 
a	conflict	of	interest	or	enable	them	to	conceal	losses,	errors	or	inappropriate	actions.

•		Policies	for	managing	risks	associated	with	outsourcing	activities	have	been	established.	Outsourcing	arrangements	are	based	on	robust	
contracts and service level agreements that ensure a clear allocation of responsibilities between external service providers and the Bank. 

•	The	Bank	ensures	adequate	internal	audit	coverage	to	verify	that	operating	policies	and	procedures	have	been	implemented	effectively.	

•	The	Bank	has	an	independent	compliance	risk	unit	to	monitor	compliance	with	various	regulatory	and	internal	guidelines.

•	Adequate	IT	processes	and	controls	for	IT	systems	and	information	security	controls.

•	The	Bank	takes	insurance	cover	to	mitigate	operational	risk.	

•	It	also	ensures	that	internal	practices	exist	to	control	operational	risk.	Examples	of	these	include:

	 -	 maintaining	safeguards	for	access	to,	and	use	of,	the	Bank’s	assets	and	records;

 - ensuring staff have appropriate expertise and training;

 - regularly verifying and reconciling transactions and accounts.

•			The	Bank	has	a	Disaster	Recovery	Plan	and	a	Business	Continuity	Plan	in	place.	The	disaster	recovery	sites	are	regularly	tested	for	processing	
transactions from the disaster site. 
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Strategic risk and reputation risk management
The	Bank	has	suitable	frameworks	covering	policy,	guidelines,	procedures	and	tools.	It	has	set	up	a	Strategic	Risk	Unit	in	the	Risk	Division	
with this objective. 

Strategic risk 
Strategic	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	of	current	or	prospective	negative	impact	on	the	Bank’s	earnings	or	capital	arising	from	changes	in	the	
environment the Bank operates in, adverse strategic decisions, improper implementation of decisions, or from lack of responsiveness to 
changes that take place relating to the industry, economy or technology. It is a function of:

•	The	Bank’s	strategic	planning	process;

•	Strategic	goals	and	plans	developed	to	achieve	the	goals;

•	Planning	and	resources	allocated	to	meet	these	goals;	and

•	Quality	of	implementation	and	effectiveness	of	the	monitoring	framework.

The sources of strategic risk arise from inadequate strategic governance frameworks; inadequate identification of factors that impact the 
strategy and/or business plans; insufficient planning and resource allocation processes; failure in execution of plans, projects and initiatives; 
and	issues	related	to	environment	dynamics	–	internal	and	external,	including	products,	services	and	practices	of	the	Bank.

The Bank seeks to manage its strategic risk through a strategic risk management framework that focuses on:

•	Identifying	strategic	risks	and	providing	guidance	on	the	key	elements	of	strategic	risk	management;

•	Defining	the	roles	and	responsibilities	of	the	different	entities	of	the	Bank	in	the	strategic	risk	assessment	and	management	process;	and

•	Developing	a	formalised	and	structured	approach	to	managing	strategic	risk	of	the	Bank.

Under Pillar II the Bank assesses the strategic risk based on a scorecard model developed to assess strategic risk in terms of strategic planning 
process and implementation of strategic initiatives.

Reputation risk 
Reputation	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	of	current	or	prospective	negative	impact	on	the	Bank’s	earnings	or	capital	arising	from	damage	to	
the	Bank’s	 reputation	 in	 the	perception	of	major	 stakeholders.	 The	Bank	 seeks	 to	manage	 its	 reputation	 risk	 through	a	 reputation	 risk	
management framework that addresses:

•	Identifying	reputation	risk	drivers;

•	Establishing	the	roles	and	responsibilities	of	different	entities	in	the	reputation	risk	assessment	and	management	process;	and

•	Developing	a	formalised	and	structured	approach	for	managing	reputation	risk	of	the	Bank.

The	 Bank	 identifies	 reputation	 risk	 under	 key	 drivers	 that	 influence	 the	 perception	 of	 stakeholders,	 like	 customer	 satisfaction,	 financial	
soundness, etc. These parameters are used for managing reputation risk within acceptable levels.

Under	Pillar	II	the	Bank	assesses	reputation	risk	based	on	a	scorecard	model	developed	to	assess	risk	through	key	drivers	that	influence	the	
Bank’s	reputation	in	the	perception	of	its	significant	stakeholders.
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Strategic risk and reputation risk management (continued)

Past due credit exposures
The Bank defines past due exposure in line with Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines. Accordingly, a cash facility will be considered irregular in 
the following circumstances:

•	if	the	overdraft	account	exceeds	10%	over	the	limit	continuously;

•	if	the	current	account	is	in	debit	balance	without	any	authorised	limit;

•	if	the	credit	facility	is	not	renewed/extended	on	expiry;

•	if	the	instalment	due	on	the	loan	has	not	been	repaid	on	its	due	date;	and/or

•	if	the	interest	accrued	on	the	loan	has	not	been	settled	on	its	maturity	date.

Impaired facilities have been defined in significant accounting policies in the financial statements.

In	accordance	with	the	Bank’s	policy,	accounts	that	are	overdue	for	more	than	5	days	are	considered	as	past	dues.	The	Bank	provides	specific	
and general provisions based on Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines, as set out below; however, for branches outside Kuwait the regulations 
of the respective jurisdictions apply. 

Specific provision 
The required minimum specific provision will be computed on the delinquent amount outstanding, based on the number of days of 
irregularity; as shown below:

Irregular days Minimum required provisions 

Between 91 days and 180 days 20%
Between 181 days and 365 days 50%
Over 365 days 100%	

Specific	provisions	are	also	made	for	monitor	category	accounts,	using	management	judgment	and	discretion.	

General provision
The Bank provides general provision on all credit facilities to customers as mandated by the Central Bank of Kuwait, net of certain restricted 
categories	of	collateral	to	which	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	instructions	are	applicable.	However,	for	branches	outside	Kuwait	the	regulations	of	
the respective jurisdictions apply. 

The Bank also makes additional general provisions to cover the general credit and market risk inherent in the portfolio. To ensure that the 
credit risk is effectively managed the Bank has a well established and comprehensive credit risk management policy framework covering the 
entire credit spectrum, to ensure that non-performing loans are minimised.
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Bank’s Credit Risk Management Policy Framework

The	Bank	uses	Standard	&	Poor’s,	Moody’s	and	Fitch	Ratings	for	claims	on	sovereign	and	bank	exposures.	The	Bank	chooses	the	lower	of	the	
best two ratings for assigning risk weight to an exposure.

The	Bank	adopts	the	following	mapping	notations	to	link	public	issue	ratings	with	comparable	assets	in	the	Bank’s	book.	It	uses	the	long-
term rating for this mapping. 

Bank’s internal rating Banks/sovereign: S&P or equivalent

1-4 AAA to A
5-7 BBB to B
8-10 CCC to D 

 

Gross credit risk exposure (Gross outstanding before any risk mitigation)
Funded 

(KD 000s)
Unfunded 
(KD 000s)

Total 
(KD 000s)

1. Cash items 10,803 - 10,803
2. Claims on sovereigns 452,945 3,423 456,368
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs)	 16,246 50 16,296
4. Claims on banks 352,456 545,112 897,568
5. Claims on corporates 1,179,287 544,332 1,723,619
6. Regulatory retail exposures 205,185 20,170 225,355
7. Past due exposures 76,984 4,516 81,500
8. Other exposures 737,286 4,209 741,495

Total 3,031,192 1,121,812 4,153,004
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Gross credit risk exposure – average balance (Gross outstanding before any risk mitigation)
Funded 

(KD 000s)
Unfunded 
(KD 000s)

Total 
(KD 000s)

1. Cash items 10,177 - 10,177
2. Claims on sovereigns 461,134 285 461,419
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 25,284 50 25,334
4. Claims on banks 372,305 401,440 773,745
5. Claims on corporates 1,201,046 576,933 1,777,979
6. Regulatory retail exposures 212,418 18,954 231,372
7. Past due exposures 82,598 4,472 87,070
8. Other exposures 694,088 7,323 701,411

Total 3,059,050 1,009,457 4,068,507

Geographic distribution – all exposures

Domestic 
(Kuwait)

(KD 000s)

Other 
Middle East

(KD 000s)
Europe

(KD 000s)
USA

(KD 000s)
Rest of World

(KD 000s)
Total

(KD 000s)

1. Cash items 10,084 719 - - - 10,803
2. Claims on sovereigns 421,364 35,004 - - - 456,368
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 14,902 1,394 - - - 16,296
4. Claims on banks 128,274 240,979 307,611 17,807 202,897 897,568
5. Claims on corporates 1,492,164 174,316 28,452 7,284 21,403 1,723,619
6. Regulatory retail exposures 218,079 7,271 - - 5 225,355
7. Past due exposures 81,500 - - - - 81,500
8. Other exposures 670,367 70,382 - - 746 741,495

Total 3,036,734 530,065 336,063 25,091 225,051 4,153,004

Geographic distribution – funded exposures

Domestic
(Kuwait)

(KD 000s)

Other
Middle East

(KD 000s)
Europe

(KD 000s)
USA

(KD 000s)

Rest of
World

(KD 000s)
Total

(KD 000s)

1. Cash items 10,084 719 - - - 10,803
2. Claims on sovereigns 417,941 35,004 - - - 452,945
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 14,852 1,394 - - - 16,246
4. Claims on banks 125,176 147,727 74,361 3,616 1,576 352,456
5. Claims on corporates 1,045,950 127,388 5,680 269 - 1,179,287
6. Regulatory retail exposures 204,388 792 - - 5 205,185
7. Past due exposures 76,984 - - - - 76,984
8. Other exposures 666,158 70,382 - - 746 737,286

Total 2,561,533 383,406 80,041 3,885 2,327 3,031,192
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Geographic distribution – unfunded exposures

Domestic 
(Kuwait)

(KD 000s)

Other 
Middle East

(KD 000s) 
Europe

(KD 000s) 
USA

(KD 000s) 

Rest of 
World

(KD 000s) 
Total

(KD 000s)

1. Claims on sovereigns 3,423 - - - - 3,423
2.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs)	 50 - - - - 50
3. Claims on banks 3,097 93,252 233,250 14,191 201,322 545,112
4. Claims on corporates 446,215 46,928 22,771 7,015 21,403 544,332
5. Regulatory retail exposures 13,692 6,478 - - - 20,170
6. Past due exposures 4,516 - - - - 4,516
7. Other exposures 4,209 - - - - 4,209

Total 475,202 146,658 256,021 21,206 222,725 1,121,812

Gross credit exposure – residual contractual maturity 

Less than 
1 month 

(KD 000s) 

1 month to 
1 year 

(KD 000s)

1 year to 
5 years 

(KD 000s) 

Over 
5 years 

(KD 000s) 
Total 

(KD 000s)

1. Cash items 10,803 - - - 10,803
2. Claims on sovereigns 187,177 214,235 54,956 - 456,368
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 50 1,394 14,852 - 16,296
4. Claims on banks 291,500 374,613 195,552 35,903 897,568
5. Claims on corporates 315,145 946,868 454,705 6,901 1,723,619
6. Regulatory retail exposures 5,018 26,570 27,184 166,583 225,355
7. Past due exposures 81,500 - - - 81,500
8. Other exposures 99,884 306,886 276,811 57,914 741,495

Total 991,077 1,807,566 1,024,060 267,301 4,153,004

Impaired credit facilities and provision – by category 
NPL 

(KD 000s) 

Specific 
provision 
(KD 000s) 

General 
provision 
(KD 000s) 

Specific 
provision 

charge 
(KD 000s)

1. Claims on corporates 98,050 18,009 100,756 11,043 
2. Regulatory retail exposures 4,673 3,147 1,534 1,061 

Total 102,723 21,156 102,290 12,104 

Impaired credit facilities and provision – by geographic area 
NPL 

(KD 000s) 

Specific 
provision 
(KD 000s) 

General 
provision 
(KD 000s)

Domestic (Kuwait) 102,723 21,156 100,610
Other	Middle	East - - 1,591
Europe - - 62
Rest of World - - 27

Total 102,723 21,156 102,290
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Movement in provisions for credit facilities impairment 

Funded 
specific 

(KD 000s) 

Funded 
general 

(KD 000s) 

Unfunded 
specific 

(KD 000s)

Unfunded 
general 

(KD 000s)
Total 

(KD 000s)

Provisions as on 1 January 2010 54,645 92,540 5,827 10,070 163,082
Ceded to the Central Bank of Kuwait (28) - - - (28)
Exchange difference (401) (5) - (1) (407)
Amounts written off during the year (51,887) - - - (51,887)
Recoveries 896 - - - 896
Charge/(Release) for the year 11,369 (458) 735 144 11,790

Provisions as at 31st December 2010 14,594 92,077 6,562 10,213 123,446

Risk weighted exposure post credit conversion and risk mitigation 
Rated 

(KD 000s) 
Unrated 

(KD 000s) 
Total 

(KD 000s)

1. Claims on sovereigns 2,890 - 2,890
2.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs)	 3,249 - 3,249
3. Claims on banks 162,791 3,856 166,647
4. Claims on corporates 4,681 938,580 943,261
5. Regulatory retail exposures - 206,092 206,092
6. Past due exposures - 14,397 14,397
7. Other exposures - 372,394 372,394

Total 173,611 1,535,319 1,708,930

Collateralised credit exposure with eligible collateral 

Gross credit 
exposure 
(KD’000s) 

Collateralised 
exposure 
(KD’000s) 

Financial 
collaterals 

(KD’000s) 

Bank 
guarantees 

(KD’000s) 
Real estate 

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 10,803 - - - -
2. Claims on sovereigns 456,368 - - - -
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs)	 16,296 - - - -
4. Claims on banks 897,568 2,110 1,055 - -
5. Claims on corporates 1,723,619 829,653 407,956 16,076 75,630
6. Regulatory retail exposures 225,355 17,857 7,386 21 121
7. Past due exposures 81,500 78,556 22,602 - 30,367
8. Other exposures 741,495 576,189 184,546 14,030 236,850

Total 4,153,004 1,504,365 623,544 30,127 342,968

46  ABK Annual Report 2010



Credit risk exposure after credit conversion factor and CRM 
Before CRM 

(KD’000s) 
CRM 

(KD’000s) 
Net exposure 

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 10,803 - 10,803
2. Claims on sovereigns 452,979 - 452,979
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs)	 16,271 - 16,271
4a.	Claims	on	banks	–	rated	 507,285 (1,055) 506,230
4b.	Claims	on	banks	–	unrated	 8,318 - 8,318
5. Claims on corporates 1,445,738 (499,662) 946,076
6. Regulatory retail exposures 215,769 (7,528) 208,241
7. Past due exposures 79,223 (52,969) 26,254
8. Other exposures 739,563 (435,426) 304,137

Total 3,475,949 (996,640) 2,479,309

Credit risk mitigation
The policies and processes for on- and off-balance sheet netting (and the extent to which the Bank makes use of them); policies and processes 
for collateral valuation and management; and a description of the main types of collateral taken are described below.

Credit	 risk	 mitigation	 (CRM)	 encompasses	 collateral	 management,	 credit	 guarantee	 and	 netting	 arrangements.	 Netting	 techniques	 are	
currently	not	employed	as	a	CRM	technique.

However,	the	Bank	has	in	place	a	system	of	collateral	valuation	and	management.	All	listed	equity	collateral	is	valued	daily,	for	the	collateral	
coverage determination. To manage the concentration risk of equity collateral, the Bank has a stipulated percentage of paid-up capital of the 
company as the maximum that can be accepted as collateral.

To manage the quality of quoted equity collateral the equity shares have been graded in four groups based on the liquidity and financial 
strength of the equity, with Grade I representing high quality. The required collateral coverage increases from Grade I to Grade IV.

In respect of real estate collateral, two valuations are obtained if the value of collateral exceeds a stipulated level and the lower valuation is 
used. Real estate collateral is valued each year. 

The Bank normally accepts the following types of collateral: 

•	Equity	shares	and	funds

•	Cash	margins	and	fixed	deposits

•	Real	estate	comprising	income-producing	and	non	income-producing	assets.	

Among	other	Risk	Mitigants,	the	Bank	also	insists	on	assignment	of	insurance	on	inventories,	plants	and	machinery.	The	Bank	also	accepts	
unlisted equity, guarantees of individuals, corporates and banks based on their creditworthiness and rating grades.
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Risk 
Management (continued)

Market risk for trading portfolio, foreign exchange and commodities exposures
The Bank uses a standardised approach for measuring the market risk of its portfolio consisting of FX, equity and derivative instruments.

 

Capital requirements for market risk exposures 

Required 
capital 

(KD 000s)

1. Equities position risk 352
2. Foreign exchange risk 44

Minimum capital required for market risk 396

Operational risk
The Bank uses a standardised approach to measure operational risk. The profit for each business line is determined using the transfer pricing 
methodology followed by the Bank. The mapping policy provides detailed guidelines on the mapping of business income into eight standard 
business lines. 

The	Bank’s	mapping	policy	has	been	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors.

Capital requirements for operational risk 

Required 
capital 

(KD 000s)

1. Trading and sales 446
2. Commercial banking 12,252
3. Retail banking 2,555
4. Asset management 51

Minimum capital required for operational risk 15,304

Equity position in the banking book
At the time of making any investment, the Bank decides whether it is a strategic investment or an investment made to realise a capital gain. 
This decision is taken based on a number of factors such as the percentage of the investment, strategic advantage to the Bank, etc. 

The	Bank’s	holdings	of	 listed	equity	are	valued	based	on	 the	closing	bid	price.	 For	unquoted	shares,	 the	valuation	conforms	 to	 IAS	39	
requirements. All investments require the approval of the Investment Committee or the Board Credit Committee, depending on the amount 
of exposure. The accounting techniques and valuation methodologies used, including key assumptions used in the valuation, are disclosed in 
the significant accounting policies note to the financials. The types and nature of investments classified as publicly traded and privately held 
are disclosed in note 6 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Equity risk is monitored by specifying the maximum asset allocation as a percentage of loans and advances. The Bank has also put in place 
sector, market and stop loss limits. 

Comprehensive due diligence is carried out for unlisted equities. A maximum portfolio limit is established for unlisted equity exposure. Each 
month a comprehensive portfolio report is presented to the Board Credit Committee on the performance of the equity investment portfolio 
and	its	compliance	with	the	various	limits	laid	down	in	the	Bank’s	investment	policy.	
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Total value of investments disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position
Total 

(KD 000s) 
Quoted 

(KD 000s)
Unquoted 
(KD 000s)

Investment	securities	–	available	for	sale	 177,994 126,091 51,903

Total investment gains Total

Realised gains recorded in statement of income 800
Unrealised	gains	recorded	in	shareholders’	equity 17,568

45% of the above included in Tier II Capital 7,906

 

Capital requirement for investments 

Capital 
requirement 

(KD 000s)

Investment	securities	–	available	for	sale 12,663

Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB)
The nature of IRRBB, key assumptions and frequency of IRRBB measurement are set out below.

Interest	rate	risk	is	limited	as	a	majority	of	KD	loans	are	re-priced	with	any	change	in	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait’s	Discount	Rate.	However,	
the pricing of deposits is not linked to the CBK Discount Rate and hence the interest rates on deposits do not get re-priced along with the 
re-pricing of loans. The mismatch that arises as a result gives rise to interest rate risk (basis risk). The other elements in the consolidated 
statement of financial position carrying interest rate risk are Treasury Bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait Bonds, and Debt securities in the 
investment portfolio. 

Deposits	are	re-priced	based	on	their	final	maturity	or,	if	linked	to	a	floating	rate	index,	on	the	re-pricing	date.	Deposits	that	are	insensitive	
to	interest	rate	movements	are	categorised	separately.	The	earnings	at	risk	are	calculated	based	on	interest	rate	re-pricing	gaps.	Simulation	
analysis is also conducted under different interest rate scenarios. The impact is quantified at regular intervals. Exposures against limits and 
simulation	analysis	are	regularly	monitored	by	the	Asset	and	Liability	Management	Committee	(ALCO).	The	Bank	hedges	the	interest	rate	risk	
in	the	banking	book,	where	appropriate,	by	using	derivative	instruments	such	as	interest	rate	swaps.	Hedging	is	done	in	the	same	currency	
and covers the period of the underlying transaction.

Interest rate risk in banking book (IRRBB) (KD 000s)

1bp sensitivity in KD book 42

1bp	sensitivity	in	USD	book	 25

The Bank recognises the need to be transparent and has implemented a comprehensive corporate governance and disclosure policy. It 
has made maximum public disclosure to enable stakeholders to assess the risk profile of the Bank; to assess the risk measurement and 
management techniques used; and to make informed decisions when dealing with the Bank. The Bank has detailed a comprehensive risk 
framework	 in	compliance	with	 the	BIS	 II	accord	and	 identified	key	 risks	–	detailing	 the	measurement	and	monitoring	 techniques	under	 
each risk area.
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Income Statement
The global and regional market conditions continued to impact the banking business during 2010. Despite this challenging environment, 
our	Bank	achieved	a	net	profit	of	KD	53.2	million,	a	36%	increase	over	previous	year.	The	Earnings	per	Share	amounted	to	38	fils,	and	the	
Return	on	Assets	(ROA)	and	Return	on	Equity	(ROE)	were	1.8%	and	13.3%	respectively.	

During	2010,	the	Central	Bank	discount	rate	was	cut	from	3.00%	to	2.50%	which	put	pressure	on	net	interest	income.	Notwithstanding	
these circumstances the Bank by employing prudent balance sheet management strategies achieved a net interest income of KD 75.7 million. 
Fees	and	commission	income	increased	by	13%	to	KD	23	million	while	net	gains	from	dealing	in	foreign	currencies	were	maintained	at	2009	
levels of KD 3.6 million. 

Operating expenses were contained at KD 33 million, as we continued to invest in our infrastructure and resources to improve customer 
service capability and maintain our competitive position. 

Financial Position
The total assets of the Bank at the end of 2010 amounted to KD 2.95 billion compared to KD 2.96 billion in 2009. Net loans and advances 
marginally decreased to KD 2.01 billion in 2010 from KD 2.02 billion at the end of 2009 due to limited lending opportunities. The non-
performing loans portfolio at the end of 2010 amounted to KD 92 million compared to KD 130.3 million in 2009. Fully provided pre invasion 
debts	of	KD	37.9	Million	at	the	end	of	2009	were	fully	written	off	during	2010.	The	non-performing	loans	remained	stable	given	the	market	
conditions	and	are	adequately	collateralized.	The	Bank’s	overall	cost	of	funds	improved	as	core	customer	deposits	grew	by	10%	to	KD	2.02	
billion.	During	2010,	the	Bank	successfully	completed	a	25%	rights	shares	issue	and	increased	its	equity	by	KD	100.9	Million.

The Bank has been compliant with all Central Bank of Kuwait regulatory ratios during 2010.

Appropriations and Distributions
The net profit is appropriated as follows:

1. KD 5.59 million transferred to statutory reserve as per Commercial Companies Law of Kuwait.

2. KD 5.59 million transferred to general reserve as per Articles of Association.

3. The balance of KD 42 million transferred to retained earnings.

The Board of Directors has recommended a cash dividend of 20 Fils per share as distribution of profit to shareholders from retained earnings 
subject	to	the	approval	of	the	shareholders	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting.

Directors'  
Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AL AHLI BANK OF KUWAIT K.S.C.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Al	Ahli	Bank	of	Kuwait	K.S.C.	(the	Bank)	and	its	Subsidiary	(together	
“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010 and the consolidated income statement, 
consolidated	 statement	 of	 comprehensive	 income,	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 changes	 in	 shareholders’	 equity	 and	 consolidated	 cash	 flow	
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	International	
Financial	Reporting	Standards	as	adopted	for	use	by	the	State	of	Kuwait,	and	for	such	internal	control	as	management	determines	is	necessary	to	
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with	International	Standards	on	Auditing.	Those	standards	require	that	we	comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditors’	judgement,	including	the	assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the 
entity’s	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	for	
the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	
evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	the	Bank’s	management,	
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as of 31 December 
2010,	and	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	as	
adopted	for	use	by	the	State	of	Kuwait.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Bank and the consolidated financial statements, together with the 
contents	of	the	report	of	the	Bank’s	Board	of	Directors	relating	to	these	consolidated	financial	statements,	are	in	accordance	therewith.	We	
further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated 
financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by Central Bank of Kuwait as 
stipulated	in	CBK	Circular	number	2/BS/184/2005	dated	21	December	2005,	as	amended,	Commercial	Companies	Law	of	1960,	as	amended,	
and by the Bank's Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations 
of	Capital	Adequacy	Regulations	issued	by	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	as	stipulated	in	CBK	Circular	number	2/BS/184/2005	dated	21	December	
2005, as amended, Commercial Companies Law of 1960, as amended, nor of the Articles of Association have occurred during the year ended 
31 December 2010 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 
of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of banking business, and its related regulations 
during the year ended 31 December 2010.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI 
LICENCE NO. 68 A 
OF	ERNST	&	YOUNG

30	JANUARY	2011
KUWAIT

JASSIM AHMAD AL-FAHAD 
LICENCE NO. 53 A 
DELOITTE
AL-FAHAD,	AL	WAzzAN	&	CO.

Auditors’ Report  
to the Shareholders 

Al-Fahad, Al Wazzan & Co.
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Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position
31 December 2010

Notes
2010

(KD 000s)
2009

(KD 000s)

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 3 312,252 445,594
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 4 259,000 206,415
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds 4 129,918 121,709
Loans and advances 5, 22 2,005,785 2,023,694
Investment securities 6 180,189 109,455
Other assets 7 32,494 27,335
Premises and equipments 29,460 31,786

TOTAL ASSETS 2,949,098 2,965,988

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and other financial institutions 397,334 740,313
Customers' deposits 8 2,022,052 1,837,673
Other liabilities 9 61,076 57,516

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,480,462 2,635,502

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share	capital	 10 144,118 115,294
Share	premium 10 108,897 36,838
Treasury shares 10 (8,410) (5,949)
Reserves 10 195,501 167,151
Proposed dividend 10 28,530 17,152

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 468,636 330,486

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2,949,098 2,965,988

Ali Hilal Al Mutairi
Deputy	Chairman	and	Managing	Director

Colin Plowman
Chief	General	Manager	and	Chief	Executive	Officer

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated 
Income Statement 
Year ended 31 December 2010

Notes
2010

(KD 000s)
2009

(KD 000s)

Interest income 11 119,192 138,227
Interest expense 12 (43,510) (56,453)

NET INTEREST INCOME 75,682 81,774

Net fees and commission income 13 22,977 20,296
Net foreign exchange gain 3,602 3,650
Net gain on investment securities 1,179 1,150
Dividend income 1,861 2,012
Other income 659 1,514

OPERATING INCOME 105,960 110,396

Staff	expenses 21,692 19,943
Depreciation 1,807 1,764
Other operating expenses 9,472 8,816

OPERATING EXPENSES 32,971 30,523

OPERATING PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE PROVISIONS / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 72,989 79,873
Provisions / impairment losses 14 (15,892) (37,498)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER PROVISIONS / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 57,097 42,375

Directors’	fees (255) (220)
Taxation 15 (3,664) (2,981)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 53,178 39,174

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 16 38 fils 32 fils

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 53,178 39,174

Other comprehensive income

Effect of changes in fair values of investments available for sale 4,694 2,213
Net gain on sale / impairment losses on investments available for sale 2,016 4,459
Revaluation of freehold land (2,970) (3,016)
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (65) (84)

Other comprehensive income for the year 3,675 3,572

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 56,853 42,746

 

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement 
Year ended 31 December 2010

Notes
2010

(KD 000s)
2009

(KD 000s)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year 53,178 39,174
Adjustments for:
 Net gain on sale of investments available for sale (800) (957)
 Dividend income (1,861) (2,012)
 Depreciation 1,807 1,764
 Provisions / impairment losses 14 15,892 37,498

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities 68,216 75,467

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Deposits with banks 72,923 (64,381)
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds (52,585) 84,605
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (8,209) (111,710)
Loans and advances 6,998 73,235
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (367) 1,904
Other assets (6,463) 7,510
Due to banks and other financial institutions (342,979) 91,746
Customers' deposits 184,379 (154,003)
Other liabilities 2,681 (26,696)

Net cash used in operating activities (75,406) (22,323)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments available for sale (92,939) (13,322)
Proceeds from sale of investments available for sale 27,284 63,449
Net purchase of premises and equipments (2,451) (2,744)
Dividend income received 1,861 2,012

Net cash (used in) from investing activities (66,245) 49,395

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from rights issue 10 100,883 - 
Dividend paid (17,125) (21,863)
Purchase of treasury shares (2,461) (2,809)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 81,297 (24,672)

Foreign currency translation difference (65) (84)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (60,419) 2,316

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 265,144 262,828

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 204,725 265,144

Cash and cash equivalent comprise: 
Balances with the Central Bank of Kuwait 3,930 6,383
Cash in hand and in current account with other banks 25,223 30,512
Deposits with banks with original maturity of thirty days 175,572 228,249

204,725 265,144

Interest received in 2010 was KD 113,530 thousand (2009: KD 146,240 thousand) and interest paid in 2010 was KD 44,786 thousand 
(2009: KD 71,945 thousand).    

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1 INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

Al	Ahli	Bank	of	Kuwait	K.S.C.	(“the	Bank”)	is	a	public	shareholding	company	incorporated	in	Kuwait	on	23	May	1967	and	is	registered	as	a	
Bank	with	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait.	Its	registered	office	is	at	Al	Safat	Square,	Ahmed	Al	Jaber	Street,	Kuwait	City.	It	is	engaged	in	banking,	
primarily in Kuwait, and in the United Arab Emirates. 

The	Bank	has	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	Ahli	Capital	Investment	Company	K.S.C.	(Closed)	(“the	Subsidiary”).	The	Subsidiary	is	engaged	in	
investment management and advisory activities and is under the supervision of the Central Bank of Kuwait.

These	consolidated	financial	statements	of	the	Bank	and	its	Subsidiary	(collectively	“the	Group”)	were	approved	for	issue	by	the	Bank’s	Board	
of Directors on 30 January 2011. The annual general assembly of the shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial 
statements after issuance.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of “investment 
securities”, “freehold land” and “derivative financial instruments”.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	presented	in	Kuwaiti	Dinars,	which	is	the	Bank’s	functional	currency,	rounded	to	the	nearest	
thousand except when otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance
The	consolidated	financial	 statements	of	 the	Group	have	been	prepared	 in	accordance	with	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	
(IFRS)	and	Interpretations	(IFRIC)	issued	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(IASB),	as	adopted	for	use	by	the	State	of	Kuwait	
for	financial	services	institutions	regulated	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	(CBK).	These	regulations	require	adoption	of	all	IFRS	except	for	the	
IAS	39	requirement	for	collective	provision,	which	has	been	replaced	by	the	CBK’s	requirement	for	a	minimum	general	provision	as	described	
under the accounting policy for impairment of financial assets.

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies are consistent with those used in the previous year except for the following:

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
The	amendment	clarifies	that	an	entity	is	permitted	to	designate	a	portion	of	the	fair	value	changes	or	cash	flow	variability	of	a	financial	
instrument	as	a	hedged	item.	This	also	covers	the	designation	of	inflation	as	a	hedged	risk	or	portion	in	particular	situations.	The	Group	has	
concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group, as the Group has not entered 
into any such hedges.

Annual improvements to IFRSs
The	IASB	has	issued	in	May	2010	“Improvements	to	IFRSs”,	an	annual	publication	to	make	necessary,	but	non-urgent,	amendments	to	IFRSs	
that will not be included as part of a major project. Unless otherwise specified, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on	or	after	1	January	2011,	with	earlier	application	permitted.	Accordingly,	the	Group	has	early	adopted	IFRS	7	:	Financial	Instruments	–	
Disclosures. The amendments modify the required level of disclosures of credit risks and related collaterals. These have no significant effect 
on consolidated financial statements disclosures. 

The	following	IASB	Standard	has	been	issued	but	are	not	yet	effective	and	have	not	been	early	adopted	by	the	Group:

IAS1: "Presentation of Financial Statements (amendments): effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011": 
The amendments clarify that an entity may choose to present the required analysis of items of other comprehensive income either in the 
statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
31 December 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
31 December 2010

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

IFRS 9: "Financial Instruments":
The	standard	was	issued	in	November	2009	and	becomes	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013.	IFRS	9	improves	
the	ability	of	the	users	of	the	financial	statement	to	assess	the	amount,	timing	and	uncertainty	of	future	cash	flows	of	the	entity	by	replacing	
many	financial	instrument	classification	categories,	measurement	and	associated	impairment	methods.	The	application	of	IFRS	9	will	result	
in	amendments	and	additional	disclosures	relating	to	financial	 instruments	and	associated	risks.	The	application	of	 IFRS	9	 is	under	 local	
regulatory	review	for	adoption	in	the	State	of	Kuwait.

IAS 24 (revised): "Related party disclosures":
The revised standard was issued in November 2009 and becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 
The revised standard simplifies the definition of a related party and provides a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for 
government-related	entities.	The	application	of	 IAS	24	(revised)	 is	not	expected	to	have	a	material	 impact	on	the	consolidated	financial	
statements of the Group.

Basis of consolidation
The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 comprise	 the	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	 Bank	 and	 its	 Subsidiary.	 The	 financial	 statement	 of	 the	
Subsidiary	is	prepared	for	the	same	reporting	year	as	the	Bank	using	consistent	accounting	policies.

Subsidiaries	are	entities	that	are	controlled	by	the	Group.	Control	exists	when	the	Group	has	the	power,	directly	or	indirectly,	to	govern	the	
financial	and	operating	policies	of	the	entity	generally	accompanying	a	shareholding	of	more	than	one	half	of	the	voting	rights.	Subsidiaries	
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control and continues to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

All material intra-group balances and transactions, including material unrealised gains and losses arising on intra-group transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Financial Instruments

Classification of financial instruments
The Group classifies financial instruments as “loans and receivables”, “investment securities”, and “financial liabilities other than at fair value 
through profit or loss”. Investment securities comprise of “investments at fair value through profit or loss” and “investments available for 
sale”.	Management	determines	the	appropriate	classification	of	each	instrument	at	the	time	of	acquisition.

Recognition/de-recognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All 
regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting. Changes in fair value between the trade 
date and settlement date are recognised in the consolidated income statement or in other comprehensive income in accordance with the 
policy applicable to the related instrument. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place. 

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised either when: 

•	the	contractual	rights	to	receive	the	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or

•		the	Group	retains	the	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	assets	but	has	assumed	an	obligation	to	pay	them	in	full	without	material	delay	
to	a	third	party	under	a	‘pass	through’	arrangement;	or

•	the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	and	either	
 - has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
 - has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Where	the	Group	has	transferred	its	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	an	asset	and	has	neither	transferred	nor	retained	substantially	all	the	
risks	and	rewards	of	the	asset	nor	transferred	control	of	the	asset,	the	asset	is	recognised	to	the	extent	of	the	Group’s	continuing	involvement	
in the asset. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Recognition/de-recognition (continued)
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the bank would be required to pay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Measurement
All financial assets or financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are added to the cost of all financial instruments 
except for financial assets classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs on financial assets classified as 
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Loans and receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets having fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method adjusted for effective fair value hedges less any provision for impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate. The amortisation is included in “Interest income” in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognised in the consolidated income statement under “Provisions / impairment losses”.

Cash and balances with banks, Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait bonds, loans and advances and certain 
other assets are classified as “loans and receivables”.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: investments held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. 
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if is acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with a documented investment strategy and reported to key 
management personnel on that basis. These are subsequently measured at fair value and any resultant gains or losses are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. The Group has not designated any financial assets as ‘those designated at fair value through profit or loss 
at	inception’	upon	initial	recognition.

Investments available for sale 
These are non-derivative financial assets either designated as “available for sale” or are not classified as fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables and held to maturity. These are subsequently measured at fair value and any resultant gains or losses are recognised through 
other comprehensive income. When the asset is disposed of, or impaired, the related accumulated fair value adjustments are transferred to 
the consolidated income statement as gains or losses.

Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss
These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Due to banks and other financial institutions, 
customers’	deposits	and	certain	other	liabilities	are	classified	as	“financial	liabilities	other	than	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss”.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivatives include interest rate swaps, credit default swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. Derivatives are recorded at fair value. 
Derivatives with positive fair values (unrealised gains) are included in other assets and derivatives with negative fair values (unrealised losses) 
are included in other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. For hedges, which do not qualify for hedge accounting and 
for “held for trading” derivatives, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated 
income statement.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Measurement (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
The Group makes use of derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks. Certain 
derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are 
not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

In order to manage particular risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions, which meet the specified criteria. At inception of 
the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including the 
nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 
hedging relationship.

Also at the inception of the hedge relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken to ensure that the hedging instrument is expected to 
be	highly	effective	in	offsetting	the	designated	risk	in	the	hedged	item.	Hedges	are	formally	assessed	at	each	reporting	date.	A	hedge	is	
regarded	as	highly	effective	if	the	changes	in	fair	value	or	cash	flows	attributable	to	the	hedged	risk	during	the	period	for	which	the	hedge	
is designated are expected to offset in a range of 80 per cent to 125 per cent.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes 
in	the	fair	value	of	a	recognised	asset	or	liability;	and	(b)	cash	flow	hedges,	which	hedge	exposure	to	variability	in	cash	flows	that	is	either	
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Fair value hedge
In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any unrealised gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging 
instrument	to	fair	value	is	recognised	in	‘Other	assets’	or	‘Other	liabilities’	and	in	the	consolidated	income	statement.	Any	gain	or	loss	on	the	
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying value of the hedged item and recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
the hedge relationship is terminated. For hedged items recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, the difference 
between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the face value is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge. 
If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Cash flow hedge
When	 a	 derivative	 is	 designated	 as	 the	 hedging	 instrument	 in	 a	 hedge	 of	 the	 variability	 in	 cash	 flows	 attributable	 to	 a	 particular	 risk	
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised directly in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The amount recognised 
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income is removed and included in the consolidated income statement in the same period as the 
hedged	cash	flows	affect	profit	or	loss	under	the	same	income	statement	line	item	as	the	hedged	item.	Any	ineffective	portion	of	changes	
in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

If	the	derivative	expires	or	is	sold,	terminated,	or	exercised,	or	no	longer	meets	the	criteria	for	cash	flow	hedge	accounting,	or	the	designation	
is revoked, then hedge accounting is prospectively discontinued and the amount recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income remains in consolidated statement of comprehensive income until the forecast transaction affects profit or loss. If the forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is recognised immediately 
in the consolidated income statement.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Measurement (continued) 

Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial 
guarantees	are	initially	recognized	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	at	fair	value,	being	the	premium	received,	in	other	liabilities.	The	
premium	received	is	recognized	in	the	consolidated	income	statement	in	‘net	fees	and	commission	income’	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	
life of the guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently measured as a higher of the amount initially recognised less amortisation or the 
value of any financial obligation that may arise therefrom.

Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a net basis or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair values 
Fair values for financial instruments traded in active markets are based on closing bid prices. For all other financial instruments, the fair 
value	is	determined	by	using	appropriate	valuation	techniques.	Valuation	techniques	include	the	fair	value	derived	from	recent	arm’s	length	
transaction,	comparison	to	similar	 instruments	for	which	market	observable	prices	exist,	discounted	cash	flow	method	or	other	relevant	
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value 
cannot be determined, the investment is carried at cost.

The fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost, other than short-term in nature is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual	cash	flows	at	the	current	market	interest	rates	for	similar	financial	instruments.

The fair value of a derivative financial instrument is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking to market the derivative 
financial instrument, using relevant market rates or internal pricing models.

Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence that an individually significant 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired if and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more loss events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset and 
that	the	loss	event	has	an	impact	on	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	financial	asset	or	the	group	of	financial	assets.	For	the	purpose	
of	assessing	impairment,	the	financial	assets	are	grouped	at	the	lowest	levels	for	which	there	are	separately	identifiable	cash	flows.	

For loans and receivables, if there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the financial asset is written down to its recoverable amount. For 
loans	and	receivables	with	fixed	interest	rates,	the	recoverable	amount	is	the	present	value	of	expected	future	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	
original effective interest rate and for loans and receivables with variable interest rates, the recoverable amount is discounted at the current 
effective	 interest	 rate	as	determined	under	the	contract.	Future	cash	flow	includes	amounts	recoverable	from	guarantees	and	collateral.	
Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans and receivables. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision account and the amount of impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement. Loans and receivables together with the associated provision account are written off when there is no realistic prospect 
of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If a write off is later recovered, the recovery is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

If in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the provision account. 

Central Bank of Kuwait directives require the Group to maintain a minimum general provision on regular cash and non cash credit facilities, 
net of certain categories of collateral during the reporting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Impairment of assets (continued)  
For available for sale equity investments, the Group assess on each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence 
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired. When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss, measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, is transferred from other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement; increases in their fair value after 
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For available for sale debt investments, the Group assess the instruments at an individual level to determine whether any objective evidence 
for impairment exists. When there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the 
instrument’s	carrying	value	and	 the	present	value	of	 the	 future	cash	flows.	 If	 in	a	 subsequent	year,	 the	 fair	 value	of	a	debt	 investment	
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated 
income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated income statement.

Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable	amount	is	the	higher	of	the	asset’s	fair	value	less	cost	of	sale	and	value	in	use.

Cash flow 
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	as	referred	to	in	the	consolidated	cash	flow	statement	consists	of	cash	on	hand	and	balances	with	banks	with	
original maturity not exceeding thirty days.

Premises and equipments
Premises and equipments other than freehold land are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is 
provided on all premises and equipments, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight line 
basis over its estimated useful life. 

Freehold land is initially recognised at cost. After initial recognition freehold land is carried at its revalued amount which is the fair value 
at the date of revaluation based on valuations by external independent valuers. The resultant revaluation surplus or deficit is recognised, 
as a separate component under other comprehensive income to the extent the deficit does not exceed the previously recognised surplus. 
The portion of the revaluation deficit that exceeds a previously recognised surplus is recognised in the consolidated income statement. To 
the extent that a revaluation surplus reverses a revaluation loss previously recognised in the consolidated income statement, the increase 
is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Upon disposal the revaluation surplus relating to the freehold land sold is transferred 
directly to retained earnings.

The assets residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. The 
estimated useful lives of the assets for the calculation of depreciation are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Leasehold premises period of lease
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years

The carrying amounts of premises and equipments are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts and the impairment loss 
is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Treasury shares 
Treasury	shares	consist	of	the	Bank’s	own	issued	shares	that	have	been	reacquired	by	the	Bank	and	not	yet	reissued	or	cancelled.	The	treasury	
shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a 
contra account in equity. When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to the “treasury shares reserve”, which is not distributable. 
Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance in that account. Any excess losses are charged to 
retained earnings then to the reserves. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury 
shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Revenue recognition
Interest income and expenses are recognised on an effective yield basis. Once a financial instrument categorised as loans and receivables is 
impaired,	interest	income	is	recognised	using	the	rate	of	interest	used	to	discount	the	future	cash	flows	for	the	purpose	of	measuring	the	
impairment loss. Interest income and expenses for all interest bearing financial instruments including those classified as investments at fair 
value through profit or loss and investments available for sale, are recognised within interest income in the consolidated income statement.

Fees and commission that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are treated as an adjustment to the 
effective	interest	rate.	Other	fees	and	commission	are	recognized	over	the	period	of	service.	Dividend	income	is	recognised	when	the	right	
to receive the payment is established.

Taxation

Provision for tax
Taxation is provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations in Kuwait and in the United Arab Emirates where the Group operates. 

Foreign currencies
Foreign	currency	transactions	are	recorded	at	rates	of	exchange	ruling	at	value	date	of	the	transaction.	Monetary	assets	and	liabilities	in	
foreign currencies outstanding at the year end are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial 
position date. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated to Kuwaiti Dinars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values were determined. In case of non-monetary 
assets whose changes in fair values are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, related foreign exchange differences are also 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income. For other non-monetary assets foreign exchange differences are recognised directly in 
the consolidated income statement.

Assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, of foreign operations are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the statement 
of financial position date. Operating results of such operations are translated at average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange 
differences are accumulated in a separate section of equity, foreign currency translation reserve until the disposal of the foreign operation.

Segment information
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns revenues and incurs costs. The 
operating segments are used by the management of the Bank to allocate resources and assess performance. Operating segments exhibiting similar 
economic characteristics, product and services, class of customers where appropriate are aggregated and reported as reportable segments.

Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Use of estimates
In	accordance	with	the	accounting	principles	contained	in	the	IFRS,	management	is	required	to	make	estimates	and	assumptions	that	may	
affect the carrying values of loans and receivables and investments available for sale. 

The basis used by management in determining the carrying values of loans and receivables and investments available for sale and the 
underlying risks therein are discussed below:

Provisions for loan losses
The Group reviews its loans and receivables on a regular basis to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated 
income statement. In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future 
cash	flows	when	determining	the	level	of	provisions	required.	Such	estimates	are	necessarily	based	on	assumptions	about	several	factors	
involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty.

Valuation of unquoted investments available for sale
The	valuation	techniques	for	unquoted	investments	available	for	sale	make	use	of	estimates	such	as	future	cash	flows	and	discount	factors,	
current market prices adjusted for market, credit and model risks and related costs and other valuation techniques commonly used by market 
participants where appropriate.

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable estimates and assumptions may have 
an impact on carrying amounts of loans and receivables and investments available for sale for the year.

Judgements
In	the	process	of	applying	the	Group’s	accounting	policies,	management	has	made	the	following	judgement,	apart	from	those	involving	
estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of financial assets 
On acquisition of financial assets, management decides whether it should be classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss or 
investments available for sale. 

Impairment of investments available for sale 
The Group treats investments available for sale as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its 
cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable 
judgement	and	involves	evaluating	factors	including	industry	and	market	conditions,	future	cash	flows	and	discount	factors.

3 CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Balances and deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait 28,930 13,383
Cash in hand and in current account with other banks 25,223 30,512
Deposits with banks 258,099 401,699

312,252 445,594

4 KUWAIT GOVERNMENT TREASURY BILLS AND BONDS AND CENTRAL BANK OF KUWAIT BONDS

These	financial	 instruments	are	 issued	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	on	behalf	of	the	Ministry	of	Finance	or	on	 its	own	behalf	and	are	
acquired from the primary market by the Group. 
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5 LOANS AND ADVANCES 

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans and advances is as follows:

Specific Provision General Provision Total Grand total

2010

Loans to
banks

(KD 000s)

Loans to
customers

(KD 000s)
Total

(KD 000s)

Loans to
banks

(KD 000s)

Loans to
customers

(KD 000s)
Total

(KD 000s)

Loans to
banks

(KD 000s)

Loans to
customers

(KD 000s) (KD 000s)

At 1 January 18,338 36,307 54,645 - 92,540 92,540 18,338 128,847 147,185
Ceded to Central Bank (17) (11) (28) - - - (17) (11) (28)
Exchange difference (143) (258) (401) - (5) (5) (143) (263) (406)
Amounts written off during the year (18,135) (33,752) (51,887) - - - (18,135) (33,752) (51,887)
Recoveries - 896 896 - - - - 896 896
(Release)/Charge for the year (Note 14) (43) 11,412 11,369 - (458) (458) (43) 10,954 10,911

At 31 December - 14,594 14,594 - 92,077 92,077 - 106,671 106,671

Specific Provision General Provision Total Grand total

2009

Loans to
banks

(KD 000s)

Loans to
customers

(KD 000s)
Total

(KD 000s)

Loans to
banks

(KD 000s)

Loans to
customers

(KD 000s)
Total

(KD 000s)

Loans to
banks

(KD 000s)

Loans to
customers

(KD 000s) (KD 000s)

At 1 January 16,973 28,336 45,309 - 71,142 71,142 16,973 99,478 116,451
Exchange difference 648 425 1,073 - - - 648 425 1,073
Amounts written off during the year - (4,014) (4,014) - - - - (4,014) (4,014)
Recoveries - 1,501 1,501 - - - - 1,501 1,501
Charge for the year (Note 14) 717 10,059 10,776 - 21,398 21,398 717 31,457 32,174

At 31 December 18,338 36,307 54,645 - 92,540 92,540 18,338 128,847 147,185

The	Bank’s	policy	for	calculating	the	provision	for	impairment	losses	on	loans	and	advances	agrees	in	all	material	respects	with	the	requirements	
of the Central Bank of Kuwait in respect of specific provisions.

The analysis of the provisions stated above is based upon the requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait. In accordance with the Central 
Bank of Kuwait instructions, a minimum general provision of 1 per cent is provided on regular cash facilities and 0.5 per cent on regular non 
cash facilities, net of certain categories of collateral to which Central Bank of Kuwait instructions are applicable. 

The split of non-performing facilities granted and related provisions between pre-invasion and post liberation are as follows:

Pre-invasion
(KD 000s)

Post liberation
(KD 000s)

Total
(KD 000s)

31 December 2010
Loans and advances - 91,646 91,646
Provisions - 14,594 14,594

31 December 2009
Loans and advances 37,949 92,334 130,283
Provisions 37,949 16,696 54,645

The Central Bank of Kuwait, in accordance with Decree No. 32/92 and Law No. 41/93, as amended, funds the provision requirements 
in respect of pre-invasion loans and advances. Any recoveries made against these provisions are ceded to the Central Bank of Kuwait in 
accordance with the prevalent law, and are not included in the consolidated income statement of the Group. During the year, pre-invasion 
facilities were written off as approved by the Central Bank of Kuwait. 
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6 INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Investments at fair value 
through profit or loss

Investments 
available for sale

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Equity
	-	Quoted 2,195 1,828 19,498 22,922
 - Unquoted - - 41,304 31,053
Debt
	-	Quoted - - 106,593 47,833
 - Unquoted - - 5,000 472
Managed	funds
 - Unquoted - - 5,599 5,347

2,195 1,828 177,994 107,627

Quoted	securities	are	traded	in	active	markets.	Fair	values	amounting	to	KD	38,994	thousand	(2009:	KD:	28,625	thousand)	of	the	unquoted	
securities are determined based on market observable data. An amount of KD 337 thousand (2009: KD: 270 thousand) was recorded in 
the statement of other comprehensive income on unquoted securities where the fair values were not based on observable market data. The 
impact	on	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	or	the	consolidated	statement	of	shareholders’	equity	would	be	immaterial	if	the	
relevant risk variables used to fair value the unquoted securities were altered by 5 per cent. 

7 OTHER ASSETS 

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Interest receivable 16,084 10,422
Others 16,410 16,913

32,494 27,335

8 CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Sight	deposits 467,770 359,201
Time deposits 1,554,282 1,478,472

2,022,052 1,837,673
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9 OTHER LIABILITIES

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

 Interest payable 9,516 10,792
 Interest received in advance 651 813
	Staff	related	accruals 7,409 6,134
 Provisions on non cash facilities 16,775 15,897
 Others 26,725 23,880

61,076 57,516

10 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a)  The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital comprises 1,441,180,449 shares (2009: 1,152,944,359 shares) of 100 fils each. 

	 The	shareholders	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting	held	on	27	March	2010	approved	the	distribution	of	cash	dividend	of	15	per	cent	
amounting to KD 17,152 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2009. Treasury shares are not entitled to any cash dividends.

	 The	shareholders	at	the	Extraordinary	General	Meeting	held	on	7	September	2009	approved	the	board	of	directors'	proposal	to	increase	
the share capital by 25 percent by a rights issue of 288,236,090 shares, each with a nominal value of 100 fils and a share premium of 
250 fils. During the current year the rights issue has been fully subscribed resulting in an increase in share capital of KD 28,824 thousand 
and share premium of KD 72,059 thousand.

b) The balance in the share premium account is not available for distribution.

c)	 As	required	by	the	Commercial	Companies	Law,	10	per	cent	of	the	profit	for	the	year	before	directors’	fees,	contribution	to	Kuwait	
Foundation	for	the	Advancement	of	Sciences,	National	Labour	Support	tax	and	zakat	has	been	transferred	to	statutory	reserve.	The	Bank	
may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50 per cent of paid up share capital.

 Distribution of this reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5 per cent of share capital in years 
when accumulated profits are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount.

d) The articles of association of the Bank require that an amount of not less than 10 per cent of the profit for the year be transferred 
annually	to	a	general	reserve.	The	transfer	is	before	directors’	fees,	contribution	to	Kuwait	Foundation	for	the	Advancement	of	Sciences,	
National	Labour	Support	tax	and	zakat.	There	is	no	restriction	on	distribution	of	this	reserve.

e)	 In	accordance	with	the	directives	of	Commercial	Companies	Law	of	1960,	dividend	earned	in	prior	years	on	the	bank’s	treasury	shares,	
which have been transferred back to the retained earnings is not available for distribution. 

f) As at 31 December 2010, the Bank held 14,668,072 (2009: 9,469,972) of its own shares equivalent to 1.02 per cent (2009: 0.82  
per cent) of the total issued share capital at the statement of financial position date. The market value of these shares at 31 December 
2010 amounted to KD 9,974 thousand (31 December 2009 KD 4,735 thousand).

g)  The directors have proposed a cash dividend of 20 per cent for the year ended 31 December 2010, (2009: 15 per cent cash dividend) 
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the annual general meeting.
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11 INTEREST INCOME 

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Deposits with banks 1,419 4,199
Loans and advances 108,722 124,280
Bonds and investment securities 9,051 9,748

119,192 138,227

12 INTEREST EXPENSE 

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Due to banks and other financial institutions 11,126 13,798
Customers’	deposits:
	-	Sight	deposits	 1,078 797
 - Time deposits 31,306 41,858

43,510 56,453

13 NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME 

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Fees and commission income 23,812 21,137
Fees and commission expense (835) (841)

22,977 20,296

Fees and commission income includes KD 981 thousand (2009: KD 962 thousand) from fiduciary activities.

14 PROVISIONS / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

The following amounts were charged during the year:

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Loans and advances (Note 5) 10,911 32,174
Non cash facilities 879 (92)
Investments available for sale 2,816 5,416
Others 1,286 - 

15,892 37,498
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15 TAXATION

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Kuwait	Foundation	for	the	Advancement	of	Sciences 503 371
National	Labour	Support	Tax 1,397 1,030
zakat	 559 412
Tax on overseas branches 1,205 1,168

3,664 2,981

16 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year.

2010 2009

Net profit for the year (KD ‘000s) 53,178 39,174

Weighted	average	number	of	the	Bank’s	issued	and	paid-up	shares 1,411,900,407 1,227,113,435
Less: Weighted average number of treasury shares (14,188,469) (7,060,040)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 1,397,711,938 1,220,053,395

Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils) 38 32

The comparative basic and diluted earnings per share have been restated for the bonus effect of rights shares issued during the current year 
(Note 10).

17 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

These represent transactions with certain related parties (major shareholders, directors and senior management of the Group, close members 
of	their	families	and	companies	of	which	they	are	principal	owners	or	over	which	they	are	able	to	exercise	significant	influence)	who	were	
customers	of	the	Group	during	the	year.	The	terms	of	these	transactions	are	approved	by	the	Group’s	management.	

In the normal course of business, directors, executive officers and parties related to them have deposits with the bank and credit facilities 
granted to them by the Bank. The year end balances included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Number of directors Number of parties related to directors  Amount

2010 2009 2010 2009
2010

(KD 000s)
2009

(KD 000s)

Directors
Loans and advances - 1 2 2 578 3,075
Deposits 7 7 5 5 8,219 12,817
Commitments and contingent liabilities - - 2 2 1,079 1,278

Loans and advances above are collaterised.
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17 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Number of executive officers
Number of parties  

related to executive officers  Amount

2010 2009 2010 2009
2010

(KD 000s)
2009

(KD 000s)

Executive officers
Loans and advances 6 7 - - 184 192
Deposits 9 8 - - 499 270
Commitments and contingent liabilities 1 1 - - 1 1

Interest income and interest expense includes KD 70 thousand (2009: KD 133 thousand) and KD 189 thousand (2009: KD 265 thousand) 
respectively, on transactions with related parties.

The details of compensation for senior management are as follows:

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Salaries	and	other	benefits 2,049 1,962
Post employment benefits 317 190

2,366 2,152

18 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Acceptances 70,212 71,185
Letters of credit 179,543 78,838
Guarantees 663,834 623,926

913,589 773,949

The above balances indicate the irrevocable contractual amounts of the Group's off balance sheet financial instruments that commit the Bank 
to make payments on behalf of the customers in the event of a specific act. The contractual amounts represent the credit risk, assuming 
that the amounts are fully advanced and that any collateral or other security is of no value. The total contractual amount of commitments 
to extend credit does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments may expire or terminate without 
being funded. Total commitments to extend credit at the statement of financial position date amounted to KD 161,434 thousand (2009: 
KD 150,102 thousand).

19 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

In	the	normal	course	of	its	business	the	Group	utilises	derivative	financial	instruments	to	manage	its	exposure	to	fluctuations	in	interest	and	
foreign exchange rates. 

Derivative transactions result, to varying degrees, in credit as well as market risks.

The	Group’s	measure	of	derivative	related	credit	risk	is	the	cost	of	replacing	contracts	at	current	market	rates	should	the	counter	party	default	
on or prior to the settlement date and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group.

Market	risk	arises	as	interest	and	foreign	exchange	rates	fluctuate	affecting	the	value	of	a	contract.	For	risk	management	purposes	and	to	
control these activities, the Group has established appropriate procedures and limits approved by the Board of Directors.
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19 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their contractual 
amounts.	The	contractual	amount,	recorded	gross,	is	the	amount	of	a	derivative’s	underlying	asset,	reference	rate	or	index	and	is	the	basis	
upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The contractual amounts represent the volume of transactions outstanding at 
the year end and are not indicative of the credit or market risk.

2010 2009

Assets
(KD 000s)

Liabilities
(KD 000s)

Contractual
amounts
(KD 000s)

Assets
(KD 000s)

Liabilities
(KD 000s)

Contractual
amounts
(KD 000s)

Derivatives held for hedging:
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps - 512 3,648 - 647 5,736

Derivatives held for trading:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,922 366 94,287 2,576 201 97,537
Interest rate swaps 39 63 100,036 - - - 
Credit default swaps 1 - 16,836 36 - 7,170

2,962 941 214,807 2,612 848 110,443

All derivative contracts are fair valued based on observable market inputs.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are contractual agreements to buy, sell or exchange a specified financial instrument at a specific price 
and	date	in	the	future.	Forwards	are	customized	contracts	transacted	on	the	over	the	counter	market	and	are	settled	on	a	gross	basis.	

Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties and may involve exchange of interest or exchange of both principal and 
interest for a fixed period of time based on contractual terms.

Credit default swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to make payments with respect to defined credit events, based on 
specified contractual amounts. 

20 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair values of all financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values. 

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of financial instruments are described in the fair value section of Note 2: 
Significant	Accounting	Policies.

21 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group is organised into segments that engage in business activities which earns revenue and incurs expenses. These segments are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for resource allocation and performance assessment. For the purposes of segment 
reporting the management has grouped the products and services into the following operating segments:

Commercial Banking -  Comprising a full range of credit, deposit and related banking services provided to its commercial customers.

Treasury and Investment -  Comprising money market, foreign exchange, treasury bonds, asset and surplus fund management and 
investment securities.

Operating	 income	 includes	operating	 revenue	directly	attributable	 to	a	segment.	Segment	 results	 include	 revenue	and	expenses	directly	
attributable	to	a	segment.	Segment	assets	comprise	those	operating	assets	that	are	directly	attributable	to	the	segment.
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21 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segmental	information	for	the	years	ended	31	December	is	as	follows:	

Commercial banking Treasury and Investment Total

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Operating income 94,676 96,562 11,284 13,834 105,960 110,396

Segment	result 67,027 50,446 5,380 4,386 72,407 54,832
Unallocated expense (15,310) (12,457)

Profit	before	tax	and	directors’	fees 57,097 42,375

Segment	assets 2,109,356 2,139,487 777,788 767,380 2,887,144 2,906,867
Unallocated assets 61,954 59,121

Total assets 2,949,098 2,965,988

Segment	liabilities 1,675,966 1,476,572 743,420 1,101,414 2,419,386 2,577,986
Unallocated liabilities 61,076 57,516

Total Liabilities 2,480,462 2,635,502

The commercial banking segment includes operating income of KD 7,689 thousand (2009: KD 6,939 thousand) and segment assets of  
KD 188,750 thousand (2009: KD 258,756 thousand) relating to overseas branches.

22 RISK MANAGEMENT 

A. CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial 
loss. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing and measuring these risks is 
explained	in	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the statement of financial position date is represented by the carrying amount of each financial 
asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the same 
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected 
by	changes	in	economic,	political	or	other	conditions.	Concentrations	of	credit	risk	indicate	the	relative	sensitivity	of	the	Group’s	performance	
to	developments	affecting	a	particular	industry	or	geographic	location.	Maximum	concentration	of	credit	risk	to	a	single	or	group	of	related	
counterparties	is	limited	to	15	per	cent	of	the	Group’s	comprehensive	capital	as	determined	by	the	regulatory	guidelines.

In accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of Kuwait dated 18 December 1996, setting out the rules and regulations regarding 
the classification of credit facilities, the Group has formed an internal committee which is composed of competent professional staff and 
which has as its purpose the study and evaluation of the existing credit facilities of each customer of the Group. This Committee is required 
to identify any abnormal situations and difficulties associated with a customer's position, which might cause the debt to be classified as 
irregular, and to determine an appropriate provisioning level.
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

A. CREDIT RISK (continued)

Derivative financial instruments 
Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. In the case of credit derivatives, the Group is also exposed to the risk of default of the underlying entity referenced by 
the derivative. 

Credit-related commitments risks 
The	Group	makes	available	to	its	customers,	financial	guarantees	which	may	require	that	the	Group	makes	payments	on	their	behalf.	Such	
payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the financial guarantees. They expose the Group to similar risks to loans and 
advances and these are mitigated by the same control processes and policies.

Credit concentration risks
Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and off balance sheet items are as follows:

2010 2009

Assets
(KD 000s)

Off balance
sheet items

(KD 000s)
Assets

(KD 000s)

Off balance
sheet items

(KD 000s)

Geographic region:
Domestic (Kuwait) 2,372,020 464,900 2,303,454 431,278
Other	Middle	East 375,524 116,980 446,513 72,121
Europe 79,958 104,375 78,353 80,943
United	States	of	America 3,625 21,206 9,518 41,211
Rest of the world 1,581 222,964 15,414 155,566

2,832,708 930,425 2,853,252 781,119

Industry sector:
Trading and manufacturing 337,858 143,876 318,239 129,300
Banks and other financial institutions 606,420 363,914 676,836 251,256
Construction and real estate 744,376 237,117 739,311 188,629
Other 1,144,054 185,518 1,118,866 211,934

2,832,708 930,425 2,853,252 781,119
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

A. CREDIT RISK (continued)

Credit concentration risks (continued)
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, 
including commitments and derivatives without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements. The maximum exposure is 
shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Gross maximum exposure

2010
(KD 000s)

2009
(KD 000s)

Credit risk exposures relating to consolidated statement of financial position items:
Balances with banks 304,224 437,197
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds (Note 4) 259,000 206,415
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (Note 4) 129,918 121,709
Loans and advances 
- Loans to customers 1,989,681 2,016,938
- Loans to banks 16,104 6,756
Debt investments available for sale (Note 6) 111,593 48,305
Other financial assets 22,188 15,932

2,832,708 2,853,252

Credit risk exposures relating to off - balance sheet items:
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18) 913,589 773,949
Credit default swap (Note 19) 16,836 7,170

930,425 781,119

Total credit risk exposure 3,763,133 3,634,371

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure but not the 
maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 

Collateral and other credit enhancements 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented 
regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are cash, securities, and charges over real estate properties and counter-guarantees.

Management	monitors	the	market	value	of	collateral	on	an	ongoing	basis	and	requests	additional	collateral,	if	required,	in	accordance	with	
the underlying agreement. At 31 December 2010, the Group held collateral with a fair value of KD 2,285,984 thousand (31 December 2009: 
KD 1,959,540 thousand).

It	is	the	Group’s	policy	to	repossess	collaterals	mortgaged	and	reduce	or	repay	the	outstanding	claims.	The	repossessed	assets	are	disposed	
depending upon the market conditions and regulatory directives. In general, the Group does not use repossessed assets for business.

At 31 December 2010, 52.63 per cent (31 December 2009: 46.04 per cent) of the total outstanding loans to customers were secured with 
a collateral coverage of 1.57 times (2009: 1.46 times) the underlying loans.
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

A. CREDIT RISK (continued) 

Credit quality of financial instruments
The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of financial assets by class, grade and status:

Neither past due nor Impaired

High
grade

(KD’000s)

Standard
grade

(KD’000s)

Acceptable
grade

(KD’000s)

Past due including
individually

impaired
(KD’000s)

Total
(KD’000s)

31 December 2010
Balances with banks 304,200 24 - - 304,224
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds (Note 4) 259,000 - - - 259,000
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (Note 4) 129,918 - - - 129,918
Loans and advances 
- Loans to customers 1,483,200 353,853 71,565 81,063 1,989,681
- Loans to banks 16,104 - - - 16,104
Debt investments available for sale (Note 6) 92,431 19,162 - - 111,593

Total 2,284,853 373,039 71,565 81,063 2,810,520

31 December 2009
Balances with banks 437,188 9 - - 437,197
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds (Note 4) 206,415 - - - 206,415
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (Note 4) 121,709 - - - 121,709
Loans and advances 
- Loans to customers 1,485,887 350,343 58,067 122,641 2,016,938
- Loans to banks 2,925 3,114 - 717 6,756
Debt investments available for sale (Note 6) 40,230 8,075 -  - 48,305

Total 2,294,354 361,541 58,067 123,358 2,837,320

The high, standard and acceptable grades of classification of loans to customers above is based on inherent credit quality of the counterparties, 
the	assessed	risk	profile,	acceptability	and	availability	of	collateral	in	accordance	with	Group’s	internal	rating	model.	Grading	of	balances	with	
banks, loans to banks and debt investments available for sale are based on the external rating of the counterparties.

Past due including individually impaired loans and advances above include KD 4,261 thousand (2009: KD 48,784 thousand) which are past due 
for less than 90 days and are not considered as impaired. The fair value of collateral that the Group held for past due and impaired loans and 
advances to customers, as at 31 December 2010 was KD 114.43 million (31 December 2009: KD 47.97 million). The Group has taken adequate 
legal measures to secure recovery of collateral when needed. Impairment loss by class on loans and advances is disclosed in Note 5. 
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B. LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity is the ongoing ability to accommodate maturing liabilities and deposit withdrawals; fund asset growth and business operations; 
and meet contractual obligations through unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. 
Liquidity risk may also result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value. The financial instruments exposed to 
these	risks,	the	objectives,	policies	and	procedures	for	managing	and	measuring	these	risks	are	explained	in	the	Risk	Management	section	
of the annual report.

The	table	below	summarises	the	maturity	profile	of	the	Group’s	financial	liabilities	based	on	contractual	undiscounted	repayment	obligations.	
Repayments, which are subject to notice, are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. 

Financial liabilities 

Less than
one month

(KD 000s)

One to
three months

(KD 000s)

Three months to
one year
(KD 000s)

One to
five years
(KD 000s)

Total
(KD 000s)

31 December 2010
Due to banks and other financial institutions 59,897 101,887 241,713 24 403,521
Customers' deposits 1,163,510 334,359 554,693 263 2,052,825
Other liabilities 27,376 24,184 - - 51,560

1,250,783 460,430 796,406 287 2,507,906

31 December 2009
Due to banks and other financial institutions 157,835 119,872 475,035 - 752,742
Customers' deposits 844,045 544,743 473,598 323 1,862,709
Other liabilities 25,095 21,629 - - 46,724

1,026,975 686,244 948,633 323 2,662,175

Contractual amounts for gross settled derivative positions total to KD 211,588 thousand (2009: KD 104,908 thousand), of which KD 98,519 
thousand (2009: KD 94,188 thousand) expires within three months.

Substantially	all	acceptances	and	letters	of	credit	commitments	expire	within	a	period	not	exceeding	one	year,	69	per	cent	(2009:	77	per	cent)	
of the guarantees expire within one year, while the remaining portion expires within a period not exceeding five years.

The	 table	below	 summarises	 the	maturity	profile	of	 the	Group’s	 assets	 and	 liabilities.	 The	maturities	of	 assets	 and	 liabilities	have	been	
determined on the basis of the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the expected maturity date, except for equity 
investments at fair value through profit or loss and investments available for sale. The maturity profile for investments at fair value through 
profit or loss and investments available for sale is determined based on management's estimate of liquidation of those investments. 

The actual maturities may differ from the maturities shown below since the borrower may have the right to prepay obligations with or 
without	prepayment	penalties,	and	customers’	deposits	might	have	to	be	repaid	on	demand.	
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B. LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)
The maturity profile as at 31 December 2010 was as follows:

Less than
one month

(KD 000s)

One month to
one year
(KD 000s)

One year to
five years
(KD 000s)

Over 
five years
(KD 000s)

Total
(KD 000s)

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 209,742 102,510 - - 312,252
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 41,257 191,235 26,508 - 259,000
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds 106,959 22,959 - - 129,918
Loans and advances 403,085 877,065 551,873 173,762 2,005,785
Investment securities - 94,153 74,096 11,940 180,189
Other assets 23,311 - 9,183 - 32,494
Premises and equipments - - - 29,460 29,460

Total assets 784,354 1,287,922 661,660 215,162 2,949,098

LIABILITIES 
Due to banks and other financial institutions 55,459 341,875 - - 397,334
Customers' deposits 1,152,447 869,349 256 - 2,022,052
Other liabilities 36,892 24,184 - - 61,076

Total liabilities 1,244,798 1,235,408 256 - 2,480,462

The maturity profile as at 31 December 2009 was as follows:

Less than
one month

(KD 000s)

One month to
one year
(KD 000s)

One year to
five years
(KD 000s)

Over 
five years
(KD 000s)

Total
(KD 000s)

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 321,143 124,451 - - 445,594
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 3,666 170,389 32,360 - 206,415
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds 24,709 97,000 - - 121,709
Loans and advances 491,541 876,296 488,062 167,795 2,023,694
Investment securities 472 68,187 34,544 6,252 109,455
Other assets 17,005 - 10,330 - 27,335
Premises and equipments - - - 31,786 31,786

Total assets 858,536 1,336,323 565,296 205,833 2,965,988

LIABILITIES	
Due to banks and other financial institutions 157,504 582,809 - - 740,313
Customers' deposits 837,779 999,588 306 - 1,837,673
Other liabilities 35,887 21,629 - - 57,516

Total liabilities 1,031,170 1,604,026 306 - 2,635,502

77



Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
31 December 2010

22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

C. MARKET RISK

C.1 INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest	rate	risk	arises	from	the	possibility	that	changes	in	interest	rates	will	affect	future	cash	flows	or	the	fair	values	of	financial	instruments.	
The Board has established limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies 
are used to ensure positions are maintained within the established limits. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, 
policies	and	procedures	for	managing	and	measuring	these	risks	are	explained	in	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.

The	sensitivity	of	 interest	rate	variability	on	the	Group’s	consolidated	 income	statement	 is	the	effect	of	the	assumed	changes	 in	 interest	
rates	on	the	net	interest	income	for	one	year,	based	on	the	floating	rate	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	held	at	31	December	2010	
including the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity of interest rate variability on the other comprehensive income (OCI) is calculated 
by revaluing fixed rate investments available for sale, including the effect of any associated hedges as at 31 December 2010 for the effects 
of the assumed changes in interest rates. The sensitivity of equity is analysed by maturity of the asset or swap. 

The	following	table	reflects	the	effect	of	25	basis	points	change	in	interest	rates,	with	all	other	variables	held	constant.

Effect (KD 000s)

2010 2009

Net profit OCI Net profit OCI

Kuwaiti Dinar 1,806 - 1,636 568
US	Dollars 30 863 38 86

C.2 CURRENCY RISK 
Currency	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	value	of	financial	instruments	will	fluctuate	due	to	changes	in	foreign	exchange	rates.	The	Board	of	Directors	
has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are 
maintained within established limits. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing 
and	measuring	these	risks	are	explained	in	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.

The effect on net profit for the year, as a result of 5 per cent change in currency rate due to the changes in fair value of monetary assets and 
liabilities, with all other variables held constant is shown below:

Effect (KD 000s)

2010 2009

Currency
US	Dollars 17 23
UAE Dirhams 5 1
Others 15 6

C.3 EQUITY PRICE RISK
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual 
stocks.	The	equity	price	risk	exposure	arises	from	the	Bank’s	investment	portfolio.	The	financial	instruments	exposed	to	these	risks,	the	objectives,	
policies	and	procedures	for	managing	and	measuring	these	risks	are	explained	in	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

C. MARKET RISK (continued)

C.3  EQUITY PRICE RISK (continued)
The equity price risk on investments at fair value through profit and loss is immaterial. The effect on consolidated income statement (as a 
result of further impairment on impaired available for sale equity investments) and on OCI (as a result of a change in the fair value of available 
for sale equity investments), as at 31 December 2010, due to a 5 per cent change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant is 
as follows:

Effect (KD 000s)

2010 2009

Net profit OCI Net profit OCI

GCC	Stock	Exchanges 204 2,180 151 3,627

C.4 PREPAYMENT RISK
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or request repayment 
earlier	or	later	than	expected,	such	as	fixed	rate	loans	and	advances	when	interest	rates	fall.	Majority	of	the	Group’s	interests	bearing	financial	
assets	are	at	floating	rates.	Also,	the	interest	bearing	financial	liabilities	have	a	maturity	of	less	than	1	year	and	accordingly,	the	Group	is	not	
exposed to significant prepayment risk. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing 
and	measuring	these	risks	are	explained	in	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.

D OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to perform, 
operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect 
to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able 
to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education 
and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and 
procedures	for	managing	and	measuring	these	risks	are	explained	in	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.

The	Risk	Management	Division	manages	operational	risks	in	line	with	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	instructions	dated	14	November	1996,	
concerning the general guidelines for internal controls and the instructions dated 13 December 2003, regarding the sound practices for 
managing and supervising operational risks in banks.

23 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The disclosures relating to the Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by Central Bank of Kuwait as stipulated in CBK Circular number  
2/BS/184/2005	dated	21	December	2005,	as	amended,	are	included	under	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	annual	report.

79



Branch 
Network

Domestic Branches
 
MAIN BRANCh
Ahmad Al Jaber Street، Safat Square
P.O. Box 1387 Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22400900 / 22411100
Fax: 22417284
Email: headoffice@abkuwait.com

SALMIYA BRANCh 
Almulla Complex,  
Salem Al Mubarak Street 
(Close to Marks & Spencer)
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 25716562 / 25710088 / 25731411
Fax: 25721964
Email: salmiya@abkuwait.com

hAwALLI BRANCh 
Al Ahli Bank Building, Tunis Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait 
Tel: 22612700 / 22612701 
Fax: 22659203
Email: hawalli@abkuwait.com

FAhAhEEL BRANCh 
Al Manshar Complex, Near Al Kout Mall
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 23912200 / 23912201
Fax: 23927685
Email: fahaheel@abkuwait.com

UNIvERSITY BRANCh 
Kuwait University, Khaldiya
(Library / Administration Complex)
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24819176 / 24819177
Fax: 24837508
Email: university@abkuwait.com

ShUwAIKh BRANCh 
Banks Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24815171 / 24815172
Fax: 24838524
Email: shuwaikh@abkuwait.com

SABAh hOSPITAL BRANCh 
Sabah Hospital
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24819477 / 24819478
Fax: 24838525
Email: sabah@abkuwait.com

ShARQ BRANCh 
Behbehani Complex
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22437545 / 22437546
Fax: 22402675
Email: sharq@abkuwait.com

 
FARwANIYA BRANCh 
Al Ettehad Complex,  
Habib Munawer Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24731950 / 24740977
Fax: 24737429
Email: farwaniya@abkuwait.com

SABhAN BRANCh
Industrial Area, Block 7, Building 3
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24714655
Fax: 24747136
Email: sabhan@abkuwait.com

JABRIYA BRANCh
Block 7, Street 102, Near Police Station
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 25333690 / 25333691
Fax: 25320017
Email: jabriya@abkuwait.com

JAhRA BRANCh 
Near Al Waha Polyclinic,  
Al Waha Area, Block 3
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24559495 / 24559552
Fax: 24557046
Email: jahra@abkuwait.com

JAhRA BRANCh (2)
Mubarak Complex 2
Jahra Commercial Center
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24564207 / 24564208
Fax:  24564301 
Email: jahra2@abkuwait.com

QURAIN BRANCh
Al Qurain Cooperative Bldg,  
Near Police Station
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 25422853 / 25422854 
Fax: 25422851
Email: qurain@abkuwait.com

MINISTRIES COMPLEx BRANCh
Ministries Complex, Block 17
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22439092 / 22439093
Fax: 22439096
Email: ministryc@abkuwait.com
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GALLERIA 2000 BRANCh
Galleria 2000,  
Salem Al Mubarak St., Salmiya
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 25713400 / 25713500
Fax: 25718400
Email: galleria@abkuwait.com

SOUTh SURRA BRANCh
Zahraa Area Block (4)  Association  
of Cooperative Zahra 
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 25246184 / 25245077 /  
 25245088 / 22268622
Fax: 25246183
Email: southsurraBr@abkuwait.com

LIBERATION TOwER BRANCh
Liberation Tower, Safat
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22493507 / 22493508
Fax: 22493506
Email: libtower@abkuwait.com

MANSOURIYA BRANCh
Block 2, Al Arabi Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22542907 / 22542908 
Fax: 22542914
Email: mansouriya@abkuwait.com

hADIYA BRANCh
Block 1, Hadiya Co-op
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 23941536 / 23941373
Fax: 23941548 
Email: hadiyabr@abkuwait.com

AhMADI BRANCh
East Ahmadi, Mustafa Karam Co. 
Building 15, Ground Floor No. 1
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 23989589 / 23989592 
Fax: 23989615
Email: ahmadi@abkuwait.com

JLEEB AL-ShYOUKh BRANCh
Al Jawhara Mall - Block 7 / 8 / 9
Building A 34 - Street 1, Ground Floor
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24341877 
Fax: 24341442
Email: aljaleeb@abkuwait.com

KhAITAN BRANCh
Khaitan, Abraj Rona Real-estate complex
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24752263 / 24753325 
Fax: 24752696
Email: khaitan@abkuwait.com

AL BAhAR CENTER BRANCh
Al Bahar Center, Tuniss. St. 
Block 61 - Building 81
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22613580 
Fax: 22613426
Email: AlBaharCent.632@abkuwait.com

ANDALOUS BRANCh
Commercial Area 
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 24891754 / 24891624 / 24891802 
Fax: 24891094
Email: andalousBr@abkuwait.com

SALwA BRANCh
Salwa Area  Block (2) Street (1) Avenue (315), 
Ground Floor
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 25644287 / 25644293
Fax: 25644273
Email: salwabr@abkuwait.com

OLYMPIA BRANCh
Olympia Complex, Salmiyah Area Block (71)
Salem Al Mubarak Street 
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel: 22268621 / 22268622 / 22268623 
Fax: 22268620
Email: OlympiaComplex@abkuwait.com

Overseas Branches
 
DUBAI BRANCh 
Abu Baker Al Siddique St., Deira
P.O. Box 1719, Dubai, UAE
Tel: (+9714) 2681118 / 2687171
Fax: (+9714) 2684445
Email: infodubai@abkuwait.com

ABU DhABI BRANCh 
EIBFS Muroor Tower - Sector E25
Muroor Street, Abu Dhabi, UAE
P.O. Box 7941, Al Nadi Seyahi
Abu Dhabi, UAE
Tel:  (+9712) 4015150
Fax: (+9712) 4439070
Email: abkabudhabi@ahlibank.ae
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Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait K.S.C

Established	in	the	State	of	Kuwait
By	Amiri	Decree	on	23	May	1967
Paid Up Capital as at 31 Dec 2010: KD 144,118,044.786  
Commercial Register: 3705
Telex:  22067, 23256, 23257
Reuters:		 AHLK
SWIFT:		 ABKK-KW-KW
Cable:		 AHLIBANK-KUWAIT
 

Ahlan Ahli 1 899 899
www.eahli.com
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